
 
 

AGENDA 
MEETING OF THE  

HIGHWOOD PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION  
Wednesday May 14, 2025 

6:00 p.m. Meeting 

City Hall  

2nd Floor 

17 Highwood Avenue 

Highwood, IL 60040 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
2. ROLL CALL 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

A. Approval of the Minutes from the Planning and Zoning Commission 
meeting dated November 13, 2024.  

4. SCHEDULED NEW BUSINESS 
 

4.1  Petition for a Special Use Permit from Tang Wong, of 
Vape312 Highwood. Under Section 11-6 of the Highwood 
Zoning Ordinance to Permit the Use of 417 Sheridan Road, 
Highwood IL, 60040 being a commercial establishment in the 
MX-1 Downtown Mixed-Use Zoning District, as a vape shop. 

 
5. ADJOURNMENT 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
       )  ss:
COUNTY OF LAKE  )

BEFORE THE HIGHWOOD PLANNING
 AND ZONING COMMISSION

In the Matter of: )
)

Petition of Alberto & Evencia ) 
Ocampo, 330 North Avenue, )
Highwood, Illinois )
(PIN# 16-15-211-017) Being a )
Residential Home in the R-3 ) 
Residential Zoning District to )
Construct a Garage with ) 
Variances to the Required )
Setbacks and the Floor Area )
Ratio. ) 

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 
taken at the hearing of the above-entitled 
matter before the Highwood Planning and Zoning 
Commission, at 17 Highwood Avenue, Highwood, 
Illinois, on November 13, 2024, at the hour of 
6:00 p.m.

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

MR. CHRIS MEYER, Chairman;

MR. ROMAN BELUCH, Member; 

MR. PETE BIAGI, Member; 

MR. FRANK CAMPOREALE, Member; 

MR. JOEL GETTLEMAN, Member; 

MR. MARK MARESCO, Member;and

MR. PAUL MARTINEZ, Member.  
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ALSO PRESENT:

MR. HOWARD C. JABLECKI, Village 
    Attorney;

MR. SCOTT COREN, City Manager; 

MR. ALBERTO OCAMPO, Petitioner; 

MS. VANESSA OCAMPO, Petitioner's 
    Representative;

MS. YURI OCAMPO, Petitioner's 
    Representative.

________________________________________________
 

MR. MEYER:  This is a petition for 

Alberto and Evancia Ocampo at 330 North Avenue 

for a setback. 

MR. JABLECKI:  The request for variance 

is to the setbacks in the floor area ratio to 

construct a detached garage. 

MR. BIAGI:  Just the one variance?  

MR. COREN:  I believe, since we 

published, they've also modified.  So it's 

meeting the setback requirements and, now, it's 

only the FAR. 

MR. MEYER:  Can I get a -- 

MR. COREN:  It's floor area ratio.  

It's one of our trickier concepts.  It's the 
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amount of building that's on the property. 

MR. JABLECKI:  You need a motion to 

open. 

MR. MEYER:  Yes.  Make a motion to open 

up the public meeting. 

MR. BELUCH:  I second it. 

MR. JABLECKI:  All in favor.

(All aye.) 

MS. V. OCAMPO:  Hi.  Good evening.  My 

name is Vanessa Ocampo.  I'm the youngest 

daughter.  This is Yuri Ocampo, the oldest, and 

this is our dad, the owner, and the one that 

wants to build the garage.

We're here requesting a variance to 

build a garage at 330 North Avenue.  My dad -- 

We have been there since '91.  He's the owner of 

the house.  And, just a little background, my 

parents immigrated from Mexico and have settled 

in Highwood and have stayed in Highwood since.  

We are all District 112 and 113 

alums.  We have all gone to college.  I think 

that our parents are an example of what the 
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American dream is and have really carried on the 

legacy of education and the importance of family 

and building a nice foundation of a family.  

I think now it's our turn to give 

back to our dad and help him to build his 

garage.  My sister will answer any questions.

MS. Y. OCAMPO:  So he has been wanting 

to build a garage forever.  Obviously, the 

language barrier is a little difficult with 

getting permits and everything.  So going into 

this, we weren't really sure of everything that 

went into it.  We did meet with Mike, he helped 

us a lot.  We did turn in the application.  

But we are requesting a floor area 

variance for it, as he wants to make a 

two-and-a-half garage -- sorry -- two-car 

garage.  

The person that's helping us or 

that's doing it did modify some of the changes 

that the city had requested, which we did, and 

we're trying to work with the city for him to be 

able to build a garage. 
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MR. COREN:  The city had their 

contractual plan review group review this.  They 

did make some modifications to the setbacks, 

which is one of our more important codes.  This 

is just, you know, another victim of trying to 

put a general code into Highwood's organic 

group, I think is a nice way to put it.  The 

lots tend to be small, so you're not able to get 

everything you need to on the property.  In some 

ways people have taken advantage of that in the 

past.  

With this specific spot, all of the 

neighbors have detached garages that back up 

against the park.  This is, really, the best way 

to utilize the space to have covered parking and 

put more value into that property and it really 

doesn't take anything away.  

It's important to defend the floor 

area ratio request in certain areas.  This is 

not one of those, in staff's opinion. 

MR. MEYER:  So the setback is covered 

because you have to be -- I remember when I did 
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my garage.  We already had a garage.  We were 

going to rebuild one and we had to move it three 

feet because of the old code versus the new 

code.

Is that what -- We're talking 

about, the amount of space on the whole 

property?  

MR. COREN:  The setback is the -- 

MR. MEYER:  No.  I understand the 

setback is covered.  But the floor, physically, 

how much building is on that property and what 

is the ratio and how much are they over?  

MR. COREN:  The allowable is 40 percent 

and this is 51 percent.  So, oftentimes, we try 

to work with someone and convince them, Hey, 

could you give up that extra 100 square feet?  

This is not one of those circumstances.  If you 

do that, you're going to lose functionality of 

the garage, whether it's a space or storage 

space for bumping into other cars.  That would 

be a hardship. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Is there a significant 
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elevation change between -- I think there is but 

is there -- between where the proposed garage 

would be and the part below or the part behind?  

MR. COREN:  This is a change in grade 

but I wouldn't call it significant. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  The park is lower, 

right?  

MR. COREN:  The park is lower.

MR. MARTINEZ:  So, I mean, there's a 

potential chance of it affecting the drainage.  

I mean, relatively insignificant. 

MR. COREN:  Whenever you build 

something, there is going to be some impact.  

It's a small enough structure that, with 

everything else, I don't anticipate anything. 

MR. BIAGI:  It would also be cohesive 

with all of the houses to the west and there's 

an open, sort of, lot right next-door, so it's 

very fitting in the neighborhood and everything.  

And the Ocampos have been wonderful neighbors 

for many, many years and we look forward to them 

building their garage. 
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MR. BELUCH:  I had a question.  I know 

they met the setback, but I looked at the 

garages to the west.  Is their setback going to 

be in line with those garages or are you closer 

in or is it still farther out but meets the 

setback?  

MS. Y. OCAMPO:  It's farther out, 

right?  

MR. COREN:  Sorry.  Are you talking 

about -- 

MR. BIAGI:  Distance from the park to 

the garage.  

MR. BELUCH:  The three houses to the 

west have garages lined up.  Is there -- When 

they meet their setback requirement, are they 

further into those?  I wouldn't want them to be 

farther out. 

MR. COREN:  I can only see the one from 

the survey.  It looks like it's approximately 

the same. 

MR. BELUCH:  You want to keep it 

consistent. 
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MS. Y. OCAMPO:  Yes. 

MR. COREN:  You're probably modifying 

by a foot or two in either direction. 

MR. BELUCH:  I think to stay 

consistent -- It's a foot out.  Highwood is 

nonconforming anyway. 

MR. MEYER:  Stop saying that. 

MR. BELUCH:  It's legal nonconforming, 

every house. 

MR. COREN:  I think it will work.  Even 

if it's not quite uniform, it's worth having 

that additional space.  We run into a lot of 

problems with neighbors who also want to build 

into that setback, making sure that you have 

those setbacks.  Who knows what's going to 

happen in the park some day. 

MR. BELUCH:  It's five feet more so 

than the one next to it, yes.  

MR. BIAGI:  There's not as many 

baseballs hitting those garages anymore, 

thankfully. 

MR. MEYER:  Any more questions to the 
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committee members?  Can we open this up to the 

public?  Anybody in the public have anything to 

ask or comment on?  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Sounds like a 

nice concept. 

MR. MEYER:  I make a motion to close 

the open meeting. 

MR. BELUCH:  Second.

MR. MEYER:  We have a motion and a 

second.

All in favor.

(All aye.)

(Which were all of the 

proceedings had in the 

above-entitled cause.)
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
)  ss:

COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

I, KRISTI LANDOLINA, Certified 

Shorthand Reporter, Registered Professional 

Reporter, and Notary Public in and for the 

County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby 

certify that previous to the commencement of the 

examination and testimony of the various 

witnesses herein, they were duly sworn to 

testify the truth in relation to the matters 

pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by 

said witnesses was reduced to writing by means 

of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into 

typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a 

true, correct and complete transcript of my 

shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have 

hereunto set my hand and affixed my electronic 

signature this 26th day of November, A.D. 2024.  

/s/ Kristi Landolina
KRISTI LANDOLINA,
C.S.R. No. 084-004611,
Notary Public, DuPage County



'

'91 [1] - 3:16

0

084-004611 [1] - 
11:22

1

100 [1] - 6:16
112 [1] - 3:20
113 [1] - 3:20
13 [1] - 1:13
16-15-211-017 [1] - 

1:7
17 [1] - 1:12

2

2024 [2] - 1:13, 11:19
26th [1] - 11:19

3

330 [3] - 1:6, 2:10, 
3:15

4

40 [1] - 6:13

5

51 [1] - 6:14

6

6:00 [1] - 1:13

A

A.D [1] - 11:19
able [2] - 4:22, 5:8
above-entitled [2] - 

1:11, 10:15
additional [1] - 9:12
advantage [1] - 5:10
affecting [1] - 7:10
affixed [1] - 11:18
aforesaid [1] - 11:16
ALBERTO [1] - 2:4
Alberto [2] - 1:5, 

2:10
allowable [1] - 6:13
ALSO [1] - 2:1
alums [1] - 3:21
American [1] - 4:1
amount [2] - 3:1, 6:6
AND [1] - 1:3
answer [1] - 4:6
anticipate [1] - 7:15
anyway [1] - 9:6
application [1] - 4:13
Area [1] - 1:9
area [4] - 2:13, 2:21, 

4:14, 5:19
areas [1] - 5:19
Attorney [1] - 2:2
Avenue [4] - 1:6, 

1:12, 2:10, 3:15
aye [2] - 3:8, 10:12

B

background [1] - 
3:17

barrier [1] - 4:9
baseballs [1] - 9:20
BEFORE [1] - 1:3
behind [1] - 7:3
below [1] - 7:3
BELUCH [9] - 1:17, 

3:6, 8:1, 8:13, 8:21, 
9:4, 9:8, 9:17, 10:8

best [1] - 5:14
between [2] - 7:1, 

7:2
BIAGI [5] - 1:18, 

2:15, 7:16, 8:11, 9:19
BOARD [1] - 1:15
build [7] - 3:13, 3:15, 

4:5, 4:8, 4:22, 7:12, 
9:13

building [4] - 3:1, 
4:3, 6:11, 7:22

bumping [1] - 6:20

C

C.S.R [1] - 11:22
CAMPOREALE [1] - 

1:19
car [1] - 4:16
carried [1] - 4:1
cars [1] - 6:20
certain [1] - 5:19
Certified [1] - 11:3
certify [1] - 11:7
Chairman [1] - 1:16
chance [1] - 7:10

change [2] - 7:1, 7:4
changes [1] - 4:19
CHRIS [1] - 1:16
circumstances [1] - 

6:17
City [1] - 2:3
city [3] - 4:20, 4:21, 

5:1
close [1] - 10:6
closer [1] - 8:4
code [3] - 5:6, 6:3, 

6:4
codes [1] - 5:4
cohesive [1] - 7:16
college [1] - 3:21
commencement [1] 

- 11:7
comment [1] - 10:3
COMMISSION [1] - 

1:3
Commission [1] - 

1:12
committee [1] - 10:1
complete [1] - 11:15
concept [1] - 10:5
concepts [1] - 2:22
consistent [2] - 8:22, 

9:5
Construct [1] - 1:8
construct [1] - 2:14
contractual [1] - 5:2
convince [1] - 6:15
COREN [13] - 2:3, 

2:16, 2:21, 5:1, 6:8, 
6:13, 7:4, 7:8, 7:12, 
8:9, 8:18, 9:2, 9:10

correct [1] - 11:15
COUNTY [2] - 1:2, 

11:2
County [2] - 11:6, 

11:22
covered [3] - 5:15, 

5:21, 6:10

D

dad [3] - 3:12, 3:15, 
4:5

daughter [1] - 3:11
defend [1] - 5:18
detached [2] - 2:14, 

5:13
difficult [1] - 4:9
direction [1] - 9:3
distance [1] - 8:11
District [2] - 1:8, 

3:20
door [1] - 7:18
drainage [1] - 7:10

dream [1] - 4:1
DU [1] - 11:2
duly [1] - 11:9
DuPage [2] - 11:6, 

11:22

E

education [1] - 4:2
either [1] - 9:3
elevation [1] - 7:1
entitled [2] - 1:11, 

10:15
Evancia [1] - 2:10
Evencia [1] - 1:5
evening [1] - 3:9
examination [1] - 

11:8
example [1] - 3:22
extra [1] - 6:16

F

family [2] - 4:2, 4:3
FAR [1] - 2:19
favor [2] - 3:7, 10:11
feet [3] - 6:3, 6:16, 

9:17
fitting [1] - 7:19
five [1] - 9:17
Floor [1] - 1:9
floor [5] - 2:13, 2:21, 

4:14, 5:18, 6:10
foot [2] - 9:3, 9:5
foregoing [1] - 11:14
forever [1] - 4:8
form [1] - 11:14
forward [1] - 7:21
foundation [1] - 4:3
FRANK [1] - 1:19
functionality [1] - 

6:18

G

garage [14] - 2:14, 
3:13, 3:15, 4:6, 4:8, 
4:16, 4:17, 4:22, 6:1, 
6:19, 7:2, 7:22, 8:12

Garage [1] - 1:8
garages [5] - 5:13, 

8:3, 8:4, 8:14, 9:20
general [1] - 5:6
GETTLEMAN [1] - 

1:20
given [1] - 11:11
grade [1] - 7:4
group [2] - 5:2, 5:7

KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR, LIMITED

630-834-7779

12

H

half [1] - 4:16
hand [1] - 11:18
hardship [1] - 6:21
hearing [1] - 1:11
help [1] - 4:5
helped [1] - 4:12
helping [1] - 4:18
hereby [1] - 11:6
herein [1] - 11:9
hereto [1] - 11:11
hereunto [1] - 11:18
hi [1] - 3:9
HIGHWOOD [1] - 1:3
Highwood [7] - 1:6, 

1:12, 1:12, 3:19, 9:5
Highwood's [1] - 5:6
hitting [1] - 9:20
Home [1] - 1:7
hour [1] - 1:13
house [2] - 3:17, 9:9
houses [2] - 7:17, 

8:13
HOWARD [1] - 2:2

I

ILLINOIS [2] - 1:1, 
11:1

Illinois [3] - 1:6, 
1:13, 11:6

immigrated [1] - 
3:18

impact [1] - 7:13
importance [1] - 4:2
important [2] - 5:4, 

5:18
IN [1] - 11:17
insignificant [1] - 

7:11

J

JABLECKI [4] - 2:2, 
2:12, 3:2, 3:7

JOEL [1] - 1:20

K

keep [1] - 8:21
knows [1] - 9:15
KRISTI [2] - 11:3, 

11:21



L

LAKE [1] - 1:2
LANDOLINA [2] - 

11:3, 11:21
language [1] - 4:9
legacy [1] - 4:2
legal [1] - 9:8
line [1] - 8:4
lined [1] - 8:14
look [1] - 7:21
looked [1] - 8:2
looks [1] - 8:19
lose [1] - 6:18
lower [2] - 7:6, 7:8

M

Manager [1] - 2:3
MARESCO [1] - 1:21
MARK [1] - 1:21
MARTINEZ [4] - 

1:22, 6:22, 7:6, 7:9
Matter [1] - 1:4
matter [1] - 1:12
matters [1] - 11:10
mean [2] - 7:9, 7:11
means [1] - 11:12
meet [2] - 4:12, 8:15
meeting [3] - 2:18, 

3:5, 10:7
meets [1] - 8:5
Member [6] - 1:17, 

1:18, 1:19, 1:20, 1:21, 
1:22

members [1] - 10:1
MEMBERS [1] - 1:15
met [1] - 8:2
Mexico [1] - 3:18
MEYER [10] - 1:16, 

2:9, 2:20, 3:4, 5:21, 
6:9, 9:7, 9:22, 10:6, 
10:9

Mike [1] - 4:12
modifications [1] - 

5:3
modified [1] - 2:17
modify [1] - 4:19
modifying [1] - 9:2
motion [4] - 3:2, 3:4, 

10:6, 10:9
move [1] - 6:2
MR [49] - 1:16, 1:17, 

1:18, 1:19, 1:20, 1:21, 
1:22, 2:2, 2:3, 2:4, 
2:9, 2:12, 2:15, 2:16, 
2:20, 2:21, 3:2, 3:4, 
3:6, 3:7, 5:1, 5:21, 

6:8, 6:9, 6:13, 6:22, 
7:4, 7:6, 7:8, 7:9, 
7:12, 7:16, 8:1, 8:9, 
8:11, 8:13, 8:18, 8:21, 
9:2, 9:4, 9:7, 9:8, 
9:10, 9:17, 9:19, 9:22, 
10:6, 10:8, 10:9

MS [5] - 2:5, 3:9, 4:7, 
8:7, 9:1

N

name [1] - 3:10
need [2] - 3:2, 5:9
neighborhood [1] - 

7:19
neighbors [3] - 5:13, 

7:20, 9:13
new [1] - 6:3
next [2] - 7:18, 9:18
next-door [1] - 7:18
nice [3] - 4:3, 5:7, 

10:5
nonconforming [2] - 

9:6, 9:8
North [3] - 1:6, 2:10, 

3:15
notarial [1] - 11:18
Notary [2] - 11:5, 

11:22
notes [1] - 11:16
November [2] - 1:13, 

11:19

O

obviously [1] - 4:8
Ocampo [4] - 1:6, 

2:10, 3:10, 3:11
OCAMPO [7] - 2:4, 

2:5, 2:7, 3:9, 4:7, 8:7, 
9:1

Ocampos [1] - 7:20
OF [5] - 1:1, 1:2, 

1:11, 11:1, 11:2
oftentimes [1] - 6:14
old [1] - 6:3
oldest [1] - 3:11
one [9] - 2:15, 2:22, 

3:12, 5:4, 5:20, 6:2, 
6:17, 8:18, 9:18

open [5] - 3:3, 3:4, 
7:18, 10:1, 10:7

opinion [1] - 5:20
organic [1] - 5:6
owner [2] - 3:12, 

3:16

P

p.m [1] - 1:13
PAGE [1] - 11:2
parents [2] - 3:18, 

3:22
park [5] - 5:14, 7:6, 

7:8, 8:11, 9:16
parking [1] - 5:15
part [2] - 7:3
past [1] - 5:11
PAUL [1] - 1:22
people [1] - 5:10
percent [2] - 6:13, 

6:14
permits [1] - 4:10
person [1] - 4:18
pertaining [1] - 

11:11
PETE [1] - 1:18
Petition [1] - 1:5
petition [1] - 2:9
Petitioner [1] - 2:4
Petitioner's [2] - 2:5, 

2:7
physically [1] - 6:10
PIN [1] - 1:7
plan [1] - 5:2
PLANNING [1] - 1:3
Planning [1] - 1:12
potential [1] - 7:10
PRESENT [2] - 1:15, 

2:1
previous [1] - 11:7
problems [1] - 9:13
PROCEEDINGS [1] - 

1:11
proceedings [1] - 

10:14
Professional [1] - 

11:4
property [5] - 3:1, 

5:9, 5:16, 6:7, 6:11
proposed [1] - 7:2
public [3] - 3:5, 10:2
Public [2] - 11:5, 

11:22
published [1] - 2:17
put [3] - 5:6, 5:7, 

5:16

Q

questions [2] - 4:6, 
9:22

quite [1] - 9:11

R

R-3 [1] - 1:7
ratio [4] - 2:13, 2:21, 

5:19, 6:12
Ratio [1] - 1:10
really [4] - 4:1, 4:11, 

5:14, 5:16
rebuild [1] - 6:2
reduced [1] - 11:12
Registered [1] - 11:4
relation [1] - 11:10
relatively [1] - 7:11
remember [1] - 5:22
REPORT [1] - 1:11
Reporter [2] - 11:4, 

11:5
Representative [2] - 

2:6, 2:7
request [2] - 2:12, 

5:19
requested [1] - 4:20
requesting [2] - 

3:14, 4:14
Required [1] - 1:9
requirement [1] - 

8:15
requirements [1] - 

2:18
Residential [2] - 1:7, 

1:8
review [2] - 5:2
ROMAN [1] - 1:17
run [1] - 9:12

S

SCOTT [1] - 2:3
seal [1] - 11:19
second [3] - 3:6, 

10:8, 10:10
see [1] - 8:18
set [1] - 11:18
setback [10] - 2:11, 

2:18, 5:21, 6:8, 6:10, 
8:2, 8:3, 8:6, 8:15, 
9:14

Setbacks [1] - 1:9
setbacks [3] - 2:13, 

5:3, 9:15
settled [1] - 3:18
Shorthand [1] - 11:4
shorthand [2] - 

11:13, 11:16
significant [2] - 6:22, 

7:5
sister [1] - 4:6
small [2] - 5:8, 7:14

KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR, LIMITED

630-834-7779

13

someone [1] - 6:15
sorry [2] - 4:16, 8:9
sort [1] - 7:18
sounds [1] - 10:4
space [5] - 5:15, 6:6, 

6:19, 6:20, 9:12
SPEAKER [1] - 10:4
specific [1] - 5:12
spot [1] - 5:12
square [1] - 6:16
ss [2] - 1:1, 11:1
staff's [1] - 5:20
STATE [2] - 1:1, 11:1
State [1] - 11:6
stay [1] - 9:4
stayed [1] - 3:19
still [1] - 8:5
stop [1] - 9:7
storage [1] - 6:19
structure [1] - 7:14
survey [1] - 8:19
sworn [1] - 11:9

T

tend [1] - 5:8
testify [1] - 11:10
testimony [3] - 1:11, 

11:8, 11:11
TESTIMONY [1] - 

11:17
thankfully [1] - 9:21
THE [1] - 1:3
thereafter [1] - 11:13
they've [1] - 2:17
three [2] - 6:2, 8:13
transcribed [1] - 

11:13
transcript [1] - 11:15
trickier [1] - 2:22
true [1] - 11:15
truth [1] - 11:10
try [1] - 6:14
trying [2] - 4:21, 5:5
turn [2] - 4:4, 4:13
two [3] - 4:16, 9:3
two-and-a-half [1] - 

4:16
two-car [1] - 4:16
typewritten [1] - 

11:14

U

UNIDENTIFIED [1] - 
10:4

uniform [1] - 9:11
up [5] - 3:5, 5:13, 



KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR, LIMITED

630-834-7779

14

6:16, 8:14, 10:1
utilize [1] - 5:15

V

value [1] - 5:16
VANESSA [1] - 2:5
Vanessa [1] - 3:10
variance [4] - 2:12, 

2:15, 3:14, 4:15
Variances [1] - 1:9
various [1] - 11:8
versus [1] - 6:3
victim [1] - 5:5
Village [1] - 2:2

W

wants [2] - 3:13, 
4:15

ways [1] - 5:10
west [3] - 7:17, 8:3, 

8:14
WHEREOF [1] - 

11:17
whole [1] - 6:6
witnesses [2] - 11:9, 

11:12
wonderful [1] - 7:20
worth [1] - 9:11
writing [1] - 11:12

Y

years [1] - 7:21
youngest [1] - 3:10
Yuri [1] - 3:11
YURI [1] - 2:7

Z

ZONING [1] - 1:3
Zoning [2] - 1:8, 1:12



1 of 7 sheets KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779

1

STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
                   )  ss:
COUNTY OF LAKE     )

BEFORE THE HIGHWOOD PLANNING
 AND ZONING COMMISSION

In the Matter of:               )
                                )
Petition of Alberto & Evencia   ) 
Ocampo, 330 North Avenue,       )
Highwood, Illinois              )
(PIN# 16-15-211-017) Being a    )
Residential Home in the R-3     ) 
Residential Zoning District to  )
Construct a Garage with         ) 
Variances to the Required       )
Setbacks and the Floor Area     )
Ratio.                          ) 

         REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 
taken at the hearing of the above-entitled 
matter before the Highwood Planning and Zoning 
Commission, at 17 Highwood Avenue, Highwood, 
Illinois, on November 13, 2024, at the hour of 
6:00 p.m.

     BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

         MR. CHRIS MEYER, Chairman;

         MR. ROMAN BELUCH, Member; 

         MR. PETE BIAGI, Member; 

         MR. FRANK CAMPOREALE, Member; 

         MR. JOEL GETTLEMAN, Member; 

         MR. MARK MARESCO, Member;and

         MR. PAUL MARTINEZ, Member.  
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2
     ALSO PRESENT:1

         MR. HOWARD C. JABLECKI, Village2
             Attorney;

3
         MR. SCOTT COREN, City Manager;

4
         MR. ALBERTO OCAMPO, Petitioner;

5
         MS. VANESSA OCAMPO, Petitioner's
             Representative;6

         MS. YURI OCAMPO, Petitioner's7
             Representative.
________________________________________________8

MR. MEYER:  This is a petition for9
Alberto and Evancia Ocampo at 330 North Avenue06:20:55PM 10
for a setback.11

MR. JABLECKI:  The request for variance12
is to the setbacks in the floor area ratio to13
construct a detached garage.14

MR. BIAGI:  Just the one variance?15
MR. COREN:  I believe, since we16

published, they've also modified.  So it's17
meeting the setback requirements and, now, it's18
only the FAR.19

MR. MEYER:  Can I get a --06:21:30PM 20
MR. COREN:  It's floor area ratio.21

It's one of our trickier concepts.  It's the22
3

amount of building that's on the property.1
MR. JABLECKI:  You need a motion to2

open.3
MR. MEYER:  Yes.  Make a motion to open4

up the public meeting.5
MR. BELUCH:  I second it.6
MR. JABLECKI:  All in favor.7

(All aye.)8
MS. V. OCAMPO:  Hi.  Good evening.  My9

name is Vanessa Ocampo.  I'm the youngest06:21:58PM 10
daughter.  This is Yuri Ocampo, the oldest, and11
this is our dad, the owner, and the one that12
wants to build the garage.13

We're here requesting a variance to14
build a garage at 330 North Avenue.  My dad --15
We have been there since '91.  He's the owner of16
the house.  And, just a little background, my17
parents immigrated from Mexico and have settled18
in Highwood and have stayed in Highwood since.19

We are all District 112 and 11306:22:31PM 20
alums.  We have all gone to college.  I think21
that our parents are an example of what the22

4

American dream is and have really carried on the1
legacy of education and the importance of family2
and building a nice foundation of a family.3

I think now it's our turn to give4
back to our dad and help him to build his5
garage.  My sister will answer any questions.6

MS. Y. OCAMPO:  So he has been wanting7
to build a garage forever.  Obviously, the8
language barrier is a little difficult with9
getting permits and everything.  So going into06:23:11PM 10
this, we weren't really sure of everything that11
went into it.  We did meet with Mike, he helped12
us a lot.  We did turn in the application.13

But we are requesting a floor area14
variance for it, as he wants to make a15
two-and-a-half garage -- sorry -- two-car16
garage.17

The person that's helping us or18
that's doing it did modify some of the changes19
that the city had requested, which we did, and06:23:47PM 20
we're trying to work with the city for him to be21
able to build a garage.22

5

MR. COREN:  The city had their1
contractual plan review group review this.  They2
did make some modifications to the setbacks,3
which is one of our more important codes.  This4
is just, you know, another victim of trying to5
put a general code into Highwood's organic6
group, I think is a nice way to put it.  The7
lots tend to be small, so you're not able to get8
everything you need to on the property.  In some9
ways people have taken advantage of that in the06:24:22PM 10
past.11

With this specific spot, all of the12
neighbors have detached garages that back up13
against the park.  This is, really, the best way14
to utilize the space to have covered parking and15
put more value into that property and it really16
doesn't take anything away.17

It's important to defend the floor18
area ratio request in certain areas.  This is19
not one of those, in staff's opinion.06:24:46PM 20

MR. MEYER:  So the setback is covered21
because you have to be -- I remember when I did22
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my garage.  We already had a garage.  We were1
going to rebuild one and we had to move it three2
feet because of the old code versus the new3
code.4

Is that what -- We're talking5
about, the amount of space on the whole6
property?7

MR. COREN:  The setback is the --8
MR. MEYER:  No.  I understand the9

setback is covered.  But the floor, physically,06:25:11PM 10
how much building is on that property and what11
is the ratio and how much are they over?12

MR. COREN:  The allowable is 40 percent13
and this is 51 percent.  So, oftentimes, we try14
to work with someone and convince them, Hey,15
could you give up that extra 100 square feet?16
This is not one of those circumstances.  If you17
do that, you're going to lose functionality of18
the garage, whether it's a space or storage19
space for bumping into other cars.  That would06:25:42PM 20
be a hardship.21

MR. MARTINEZ:  Is there a significant22

7

elevation change between -- I think there is but1
is there -- between where the proposed garage2
would be and the part below or the part behind?3

MR. COREN:  This is a change in grade4
but I wouldn't call it significant.5

MR. MARTINEZ:  The park is lower,6
right?7

MR. COREN:  The park is lower.8
MR. MARTINEZ:  So, I mean, there's a9

potential chance of it affecting the drainage.06:26:09PM 10
I mean, relatively insignificant.11

MR. COREN:  Whenever you build12
something, there is going to be some impact.13
It's a small enough structure that, with14
everything else, I don't anticipate anything.15

MR. BIAGI:  It would also be cohesive16
with all of the houses to the west and there's17
an open, sort of, lot right next-door, so it's18
very fitting in the neighborhood and everything.19
And the Ocampos have been wonderful neighbors06:26:40PM 20
for many, many years and we look forward to them21
building their garage.22

8

MR. BELUCH:  I had a question.  I know1
they met the setback, but I looked at the2
garages to the west.  Is their setback going to3
be in line with those garages or are you closer4
in or is it still farther out but meets the5
setback?6

MS. Y. OCAMPO:  It's farther out,7
right?8

MR. COREN:  Sorry.  Are you talking9
about --06:27:10PM 10

MR. BIAGI:  Distance from the park to11
the garage.12

MR. BELUCH:  The three houses to the13
west have garages lined up.  Is there -- When14
they meet their setback requirement, are they15
further into those?  I wouldn't want them to be16
farther out.17

MR. COREN:  I can only see the one from18
the survey.  It looks like it's approximately19
the same.06:27:34PM 20

MR. BELUCH:  You want to keep it21
consistent.22

9

MS. Y. OCAMPO:  Yes.1
MR. COREN:  You're probably modifying2

by a foot or two in either direction.3
MR. BELUCH:  I think to stay4

consistent -- It's a foot out.  Highwood is5
nonconforming anyway.6

MR. MEYER:  Stop saying that.7
MR. BELUCH:  It's legal nonconforming,8

every house.9
MR. COREN:  I think it will work.  Even06:28:03PM 10

if it's not quite uniform, it's worth having11
that additional space.  We run into a lot of12
problems with neighbors who also want to build13
into that setback, making sure that you have14
those setbacks.  Who knows what's going to15
happen in the park some day.16

MR. BELUCH:  It's five feet more so17
than the one next to it, yes.18

MR. BIAGI:  There's not as many19
baseballs hitting those garages anymore,06:28:31PM 20
thankfully.21

MR. MEYER:  Any more questions to the22
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committee members?  Can we open this up to the1
public?  Anybody in the public have anything to2
ask or comment on?3

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Sounds like a4
nice concept.5

MR. MEYER:  I make a motion to close6
the open meeting.7

MR. BELUCH:  Second.8
MR. MEYER:  We have a motion and a9

second.06:29:07PM 10
All in favor.11
(All aye.)12

(Which were all of the13
proceedings had in the14
above-entitled cause.)15

16
17
18
19
20
21
22

11
STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

              I, KRISTI LANDOLINA, Certified
Shorthand Reporter, Registered Professional
Reporter, and Notary Public in and for the
County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby
certify that previous to the commencement of the
examination and testimony of the various
witnesses herein, they were duly sworn to
testify the truth in relation to the matters
pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by
said witnesses was reduced to writing by means
of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into
typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a
true, correct and complete transcript of my
shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.
              IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have
hereunto set my hand and affixed my electronic
signature this 26th day of November, A.D. 2024.
                       /s/ Kristi Landolina
                       KRISTI LANDOLINA,
                       C.S.R. No. 084-004611,
                       Notary Public, DuPage County
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STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
       )  ss:
COUNTY OF LAKE  )

BEFORE THE HIGHWOOD PLANNING
 AND ZONING COMMISSION

In the Matter of: )
)

Petition for a Special Use )
Permit from Section 11-6 )
Of the Highwood Zoning )
Ordinance to Permit the ) 
Use of 43 Highwood Avenue )
PIN# 16-15-413-009 Being a )
Commercial Establishment in ) 
The MX-2 Downtown Mixed-Use ) 
Zoning District, as a Tattoo )
Parlor and Art Gallery. )  

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 
taken at the hearing of the above-entitled 
matter before the Highwood Planning and Zoning 
Commission, at 17 Highwood Avenue, Highwood, 
Illinois, on November 13, 2024, at the hour of 
6:00 p.m.

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

MR. CHRIS MEYER, Chairman;

MR. ROMAN BELUCH, Member; 

MR. PETE BIAGI, Member; 

MR. FRANK CAMPOREALE, Member; 

MR. JOEL GETTLEMAN, Member; 

MR. MARK MARESCO, Member; and

MR. PAUL MARTINEZ, Member.  
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ALSO PRESENT:

MR. HOWARD C. JABLECKI, Village 
    Attorney;

MR. SCOTT COREN, City Manager.  
    Community Development; 

MS. HANNAH R. SAED, Attorney for 
    Petitioner;

MR. ORLANDO CAMACHO, Petitioner.  
________________________________________________

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  We're going to call 

the meeting to order.

MR. BELUCH:  Pete Biagi?  

MR. BIAGI:  Here.

MR. BELUCH:  Paul Martinez?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Here.

MR. BELUCH:  Joel Gettleman?

MR. GETTLEMAN:  Here.

MR. BELUCH:  Chris Meyer?  

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Here. 

MR. BELUCH:  Frank Camporeale?

MR. CAMPOREALE:  Yes.

MR. BELUCH:  Mark Maresco?  

MR. MARESCO:  Yes. 

MR. BELUCH:  Paul Beluch, here.
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Paul Fabbri?  

(No response.) 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  I assume you want to 

push off minutes and get to business?  

MR. COREN:  We don't have any minutes. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Are we going to go in 

order?  

MR. COREN:  I don't believe the first 

petitioner is here yet. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  We're not going to go 

in order.  So we're going to do the second one, 

which is a petition for MX-2, tattoo parlor and 

art gallery.

So we can open this up for a public 

meeting, right?  

MR. JABLECKI:  Yes.  You need to open 

the public hearing for 4.2. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  I'm opening up the 

meeting. 

MR. BIAGI:  I'll second. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  All in favor?  

(All aye.) 
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MR. JABLECKI:  Turn it over to the 

petitioner. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  At your convenience.

MS. SAED:  Thank you.  I'll just need a 

minute to set up this HDMI.

Good evening.  Thank you, 

Commission.  Thank you, Scott, for being here.  

I'm Hannah Saed.  I'm an attorney at Elrod 

Friedman; and, tonight, I'm representing the 

petitioner, Orlando Camacho.  

And we're requesting approval of a 

special use permit for a tattoo parlor and an 

art gallery in the MX-2 District.  We note that 

an art gallery is a permitted use in this 

district, so the special use would just be for 

the tattoo parlor.  

Please, let us know if you have any 

questions, along the way, we're more than happy 

to answer.

So, an overview of the site, the 

subject property is 43 Highwood Avenue, just 

down the street.  It is on the southwest corner 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

06:03:29PM

06:04:02PM

KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR, LIMITED

630-834-7779

5

of Highwood Avenue and Green Bay Road.  It is 

zoned MX-2, which is the downtown mixed-use 

district, and the comprehensive plan designates 

it as a mixed-use downtown core.  

It's in the same retail center as 

the Windy City Cannabis, Blow By Blow, SLYCE 

Pizza, and Alex's Washington Gardens Restaurant.  

So the subject property comes with 

two designated parking spaces in the back, right 

here -- my mouse isn't showing up but in the -- 

in the south end of the property, that 

rectangle, and the Highwood Metra UP Line that 

connects Chicago, all the way up to Kenosha, is 

just catty-corner from the property.  Also, the 

472 bus line that runs up and down Green Bay 

Road, connecting Highwood and Highland Park, 

runs just to the east of the property.  

And the petitioner is the primary 

artist and employee for the proposed use and he 

intends to take public transit to the site.  So 

the two parking spaces will be designated for 

customers.  There's, also, plentiful parking on 
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Green Bay Road. 

MR. MARESCO:  Excuse me.  This is the 

old post office site, right?  

MR. COREN:  Yes. 

MR. BIAGI:  That's included 

catty-corner, like this, that's part of the same 

complex is what you were saying?  

MS. SAED:  I'm not familiar with the 

old post office. 

MR. COREN:  Yes.  Just being a little 

familiar from when the entire area sold at 

auction, I think in 2019, they purchased all of 

the units, which includes Washington Gardens, 

Blow By Blow, and the cannabis dispensary; and, 

more recently, I think was Senator Morrison's 

office. 

MR. MARESCO:  Okay.  I didn't know it 

was an L-shape as part of one.  Okay.  That's 

fine. 

MR. COREN:  Some of the utilities are 

connected.  It's a mess.

MS. SAED:  Yeah, so this is on the west 
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side. 

MR. MARESCO:  I know exactly what 

you're talking about.

MS. SAED:  Okay.  Excellent.  

MR. BIAGI:  I have a question on the 

parking.  Is that on Highwood Avenue or is it 

behind through that alley in the back?  

MS. SAED:  The parking is through that 

alley in the back.  So I can't point it out, 

here, but it's right here (indicating). 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Would there be signage 

indicating that patrons should be parking 

behind?  

MS. SAED:  We can certainly add signage 

that parking will be behind. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  It's kind of a secret 

spot is the reason I ask.  

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Maybe something in 

front of the door. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  I'm not even sure if 

it's permitted to have signs there indicated as 

such.  
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The other question regarding, I 

guess, parking is:  What would be, like, your 

expected hours?  And, also, what would be the 

approximate time that patrons would be there; in 

other words, would people just be there for an 

hour or two hours, five hours?  And -- Like, 

what are your hours.

MR. CAMACHO:  That's in the next slide.  

So during the week, we plan noon to 8:00 p.m.  

Again, a lot of our clients usually -- at least 

I'm hoping they will be taking public 

transportation.  But, usually, they are 

estimated between an hour a person.  Sometimes 

we do get bigger projects that could take up to 

four hours.  Usually, that's what we use as a 

catalyst.  We tell people if it's a longer 

session, four hours would be the max. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Cool. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  I had a quick 

question.

MS. SAED:  Yes. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  You have no employees, 
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you're going to be the only person there?  

MR. CAMACHO:  I'm going to be the head 

person.  I will have two other people.  I have 

another artist that has been tattooing with me 

for the last ten years in the city and, then, 

another person who I have been working with for 

another five years working in Lake Bluff. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  They would also be 

taking public, I assume?  

MR. CAMACHO:  Yes.  Exactly.  Or 

commute together. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Thank you.

MS. SAED:  Thank you.  

I'll head back to -- 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Sorry.

MS. SAED:  Not a problem.  Just to give 

a broader overview of the use and the property.  

So, also, regarding the parking, City Manager 

Coren notified us that this use isn't more 

intensive than the previous use, so we're under 

the impression that we won't need parking, 

really, for this site.
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We do believe that this use 

compliments surrounding uses.  Highwood is a 

major art scene.  The Odd Originals, down the 

street, recently had their grand opening.  And 

just from walking around the downtown area, you 

could see that Highwood is definitely a home for 

artists, whether it's visual artists, audio 

artists.  You know, 28 Mile Distillery has 

their, you know, shows on the weekends.  

Highwood is a very vibrant and attractive place 

for artists, which is why we believe this will 

be a great fit in the community.  

We also know, for a number of 

years, Highwood was home to a tattoo parlor that 

was located not too far away.  They also 

received a special use permit and they had been 

operating for a number of years until this past 

August, so there seems to be a demand in this 

area and there seems to be a void, also, because 

that artist retired.  So we think this is an 

exciting new addition to the community.  

I'm going to pass it off to Orlando 
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to discuss the space and his vision.

MR. CAMACHO:  Okay.  So the space is 

about 1,545 square feet.  It's currently vacant.  

It has been vacant for the last two years.  At 

least that's what the city -- the property owner 

has told me.  

There is a large space that's for 

the lobby where we will plan to have people 

sitting, waiting.  Then a larger area where we 

plan to have workstations.  There is also two 

little offices that we'll be using sparingly.  

As far as anything that needs to be 

done or made up inside of the space, I think the 

only thing that's missing is a handwashing sink 

to make it compliant with the State Health 

Board.  And, then, other than that, it's just, 

kind of, cosmetic stuff, lights for us to be 

able to work in there and have enough space, and 

stuff like that.  

Any questions?  

MR. BIAGI:  Do you have to be licensed 

by the state to -- because there's some blood 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

06:09:51PM

06:10:08PM

KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR, LIMITED

630-834-7779

12

and health issues?  

MR. CAMACHO:  All artists, if you're 

working professionally, have to have a 

bloodborne pathogen license.  That's in order to 

make sure you know how to properly handle and 

throw away material that may be contaminated 

with blood.  There is also -- I will have to 

have a company that will come and pick up the 

sharps containers from us for proper disposal. 

MR. MARESCO:  Kind of like medical 

disposal?  

MR. CAMACHO:  Exactly.  That's a 

contract I will have to make and they will pick 

up that stuff for us. 

MR. MARESCO:  How many stations are you 

going to have?  If you already mentioned it, 

sorry.

MR. CAMACHO:  Right now, there's enough 

space for four stations.  I don't like to be 

cramped up when we're tattooing, so there will 

be only three stations.  That's pretty much it.

Any other questions?  
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MR. BELUCH:  This tattoo 

parlor/gallery, how much of your use of the 

space usage there is going to be gallery and 

what kind of gallery?  

MR. CAMACHO:  So, for the gallery, we 

imagined, it's going to be quarterly art shows.  

The tattoo stations are movable, so I plan on 

moving that to -- outside of the area when we're 

presenting art gallery shows and/or we might be 

doing some -- what's it called -- bookbinding -- 

community bookbinding events.  

I have a friend that's right here 

at Ragdale and that's, kind of, one of their 

practices that they have been doing for many, 

many years.  And so we hope we will have a night 

where we can invite the community to just learn 

how to make books.  With that, again, we move 

all of the tattoo stations out of the way, so 

that larger work area would double as the 

gallery, as well. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  That would be, like, 

once a -- I was not understanding.
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MR. CAMACHO:  So quarterly would be, 

like, every three months we have an actual art 

show. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  For one day?  

MR. CAMACHO:  Like, an opening and art 

work displayed. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Four days a year?  

MR. CAMACHO:  Exactly.  For the gallery 

show.  As far as for the bookbinding, it might 

be once a month.  It just, really, depends on 

the other artists. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  More of a tattoo shop 

and side gig of gallery?  

MR. CAMACHO:  Correct. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  So, on any day, you 

won't have an artist, it looks like. 

MR. CAMACHO:  The art will be displayed 

for three months at a time.  We will have an 

actual opening night and, then, after that, you 

can come in. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  People can come in and 

just look at the art and not get a tattoo. 
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MR. CAMACHO:  And not get a tattoo, 

correct.  You don't have to get a tattoo.

MR. MARTINEZ:  Do you have an 

expectation when you would have the art 

openings?  The reason I ask is that that corner 

does get pretty busy around the times of, say, 

3:30 to 8:00.  You know, after -- after 5:00 -- 

From 5:00 to 8:00, it's a very active corner. 

MR. CAMACHO:  Very busy, yes.  Yes. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  My question would be:  

Would you anticipate having, say, a quarterly 

art show, like, a Friday night at 6:00?  

MR. CAMACHO:  I would want to take a 

look at what the community has before I try to 

do anything.  It would be nice to also get brand 

new people to walk through into openings.  

Especially for artists, it would be nicer to 

have the space filled so they could take full 

advantage of the space. 

For that, I think it's just going 

to be more of feeling that out and understanding 

the community and how much, like, traffic I get. 
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MR. MARTINEZ:  One other question, 

somewhat related.  We saw the rendering in the 

packet of the facade and the signage.  Would you 

anticipate having, like, say, sandwich sidewalk 

boards, sort of, like Windy City has?  

MR. CAMACHO:  I'm not a big fan of 

sandwich boards as much.  If I did, I would 

bring it up to you guys before I put anything 

out there.

MS. SAED:  To see what's compliant with 

the code. 

MR. CAMACHO:  Correct.

MR. MARESCO:  To, kind of, piggyback on 

that, looking at what was submitted in the 

proposal, it seemed like just block lettering. 

MR. CAMACHO:  Yes. 

MR. MARESCO:  Usually, when you think 

of a tattoo parlor, you think of bright colors, 

you know, not talking about neon signs -- 

MR. CAMACHO:  No.  No.  I had two 

different designs.  One was a little bit more 

artistic where the letters were stacked together 
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and off to the side; but I was told, perhaps, 

this would fit a little bit more with the town's 

aesthetics.  We just wanted to make sure that 

we're compliant. 

MR. JABLECKI:  Any signage would have 

to go through ARC approval. 

MR. CAMACHO:  Right.  

Anything else?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  There it is. 

MR. CAMACHO:  There it is.

MS. SAED:  These goose neck lights 

would remain as they are existing in the 

picture. 

MR. CAMACHO:  For the signage on the 

door, it's pretty much that but with the hours 

of operation.  I would also -- Like I said, 

maybe, if we need to, we can put another 

lettering or something that says there's 

additional parking in the rear.  Again, as long 

as it's compliant.

Any other questions?  

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Do we open it up to 
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the public?  

MR. JABLECKI:  Exactly.

MS. SAED:  We have a few more slides. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  I'm sorry.  My 

apologies. 

MR. CAMACHO:  So for the tattoo space, 

again, we're trying to do something that's 

beyond just tattoos.  We wanted to make sure 

it's offering an artistic community within 

Highwood.  I, kind of, chose the town because I 

saw the restaurants, I saw the art, and I 

figured that it would be a great fit for 

something that I'm trying to do.  It's not just 

going to be, like, a biker tattoo sort of thing.  

I wanted to elevate the work.  

I, myself, went to the School of 

Art Institute and just want to push that sort of 

idea in tattooing, that it's more than just, 

like, bikers and tattoos.

As far as the space, again, we're 

trying to make sure that everyone can come into 

the space and is welcome; make sure that if you 
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have ideas, we can help you translate that into 

a tattoo.  Like I said, both myself and my 

friend, Cory Zayon (phonetic), is an artist of 

20 years in the tattooing business and, then, a 

younger guy who, also, is learning and doing 

really great work.  We wanted to make sure the 

town has good work behind it.

MS. SAED:  We, also, noted in the staff 

report that the tattooing industry is growing.  

So, for that reason, also we think that this 

could be a great potential use for this site and 

a use for the city.

To wrap things up, as we said, the 

proposed use will be a great destination, not 

only for locals but we think that it will draw 

people from all over the Chicagoland area.  It's 

right off the Metra.  It is interconnected with 

the surrounding communities.  It's really close 

to the interstate just to the west.  So this is 

a great opportunity to bring a new and creative 

use to this space.

The nearest tattoo parlor from here 
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is about 10 miles west and there's another one 

10 miles north.  So this is not a highly 

competitive space, at least in this area.  Also, 

this isn't a very intensive use.  So tattooing 

is a fairly quiet business.  All noise will be 

contained to the site.  You know, no, like, rock 

music playing while they are tattooing or 

anything like that.  We don't believe this will 

cause any negative externalities to neighbors or 

impact the neighborhood esthetic.  

If you have any more questions, 

we'll be happy to answer.  Thank you all very 

much for your time. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Thank you.  At this 

time, we open it up to the public for any 

comment or questions.

(No response.)  

MR. JABLECKI:  If there's no more 

questions from the commissioners, you can close 

the public hearing and discuss. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  You guys all good?  

Now we close it down.  You can sit 
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down now. 

MR. JABLECKI:  Motion to close the 

public hearing. 

MR. MARESCO:  Make a motion to close 

the public hearing. 

MR. BIAGI:  Second. 

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  All in favor.

(All aye.)

(Which were all of the 

proceedings had in the 

above-entitled cause.)
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STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
                   )  ss:
COUNTY OF LAKE     )

BEFORE THE HIGHWOOD PLANNING
 AND ZONING COMMISSION

In the Matter of:               )
                                )
Petition for a Special Use      )
Permit from Section 11-6        )
Of the Highwood Zoning          )
Ordinance to Permit the         ) 
Use of 43 Highwood Avenue       )
PIN# 16-15-413-009 Being a      )
Commercial Establishment in     ) 
The MX-2 Downtown Mixed-Use     ) 
Zoning District, as a Tattoo    )
Parlor and Art Gallery.         )            

         REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 
taken at the hearing of the above-entitled 
matter before the Highwood Planning and Zoning 
Commission, at 17 Highwood Avenue, Highwood, 
Illinois, on November 13, 2024, at the hour of 
6:00 p.m.

     BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

         MR. CHRIS MEYER, Chairman;

         MR. ROMAN BELUCH, Member; 

         MR. PETE BIAGI, Member; 

         MR. FRANK CAMPOREALE, Member; 

         MR. JOEL GETTLEMAN, Member; 

         MR. MARK MARESCO, Member; and

         MR. PAUL MARTINEZ, Member.  



KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR 630-834-7779 2 of 11 sheets 

2
     ALSO PRESENT:1

         MR. HOWARD C. JABLECKI, Village2
             Attorney;

3
         MR. SCOTT COREN, City Manager.
             Community Development;4

         MS. HANNAH R. SAED, Attorney for5
             Petitioner;

6
         MR. ORLANDO CAMACHO, Petitioner.
________________________________________________7

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  We're going to call8
the meeting to order.9

MR. BELUCH:  Pete Biagi?06:00:26PM 10
MR. BIAGI:  Here.11
MR. BELUCH:  Paul Martinez?12
MR. MARTINEZ:  Here.13
MR. BELUCH:  Joel Gettleman?14
MR. GETTLEMAN:  Here.15
MR. BELUCH:  Chris Meyer?16
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Here.17
MR. BELUCH:  Frank Camporeale?18
MR. CAMPOREALE:  Yes.19
MR. BELUCH:  Mark Maresco?06:00:32PM 20
MR. MARESCO:  Yes.21
MR. BELUCH:  Paul Beluch, here.22

3

Paul Fabbri?1
(No response.)2

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  I assume you want to3
push off minutes and get to business?4

MR. COREN:  We don't have any minutes.5
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Are we going to go in6

order?7
MR. COREN:  I don't believe the first8

petitioner is here yet.9
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  We're not going to go06:00:55PM 10

in order.  So we're going to do the second one,11
which is a petition for MX-2, tattoo parlor and12
art gallery.13

So we can open this up for a public14
meeting, right?15

MR. JABLECKI:  Yes.  You need to open16
the public hearing for 4.2.17

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  I'm opening up the18
meeting.19

MR. BIAGI:  I'll second.06:01:28PM 20
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  All in favor?21

(All aye.)22

4

MR. JABLECKI:  Turn it over to the1
petitioner.2

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  At your convenience.3
MS. SAED:  Thank you.  I'll just need a4

minute to set up this HDMI.5
Good evening.  Thank you,6

Commission.  Thank you, Scott, for being here.7
I'm Hannah Saed.  I'm an attorney at Elrod8
Friedman; and, tonight, I'm representing the9
petitioner, Orlando Camacho.06:02:22PM 10

And we're requesting approval of a11
special use permit for a tattoo parlor and an12
art gallery in the MX-2 District.  We note that13
an art gallery is a permitted use in this14
district, so the special use would just be for15
the tattoo parlor.16

Please, let us know if you have any17
questions, along the way, we're more than happy18
to answer.19

So, an overview of the site, the06:02:47PM 20
subject property is 43 Highwood Avenue, just21
down the street.  It is on the southwest corner22

5

of Highwood Avenue and Green Bay Road.  It is1
zoned MX-2, which is the downtown mixed-use2
district, and the comprehensive plan designates3
it as a mixed-use downtown core.4

It's in the same retail center as5
the Windy City Cannabis, Blow By Blow, SLYCE6
Pizza, and Alex's Washington Gardens Restaurant.7

So the subject property comes with8
two designated parking spaces in the back, right9
here -- my mouse isn't showing up but in the --06:03:29PM 10
in the south end of the property, that11
rectangle, and the Highwood Metra UP Line that12
connects Chicago, all the way up to Kenosha, is13
just catty-corner from the property.  Also, the14
472 bus line that runs up and down Green Bay15
Road, connecting Highwood and Highland Park,16
runs just to the east of the property.17

And the petitioner is the primary18
artist and employee for the proposed use and he19
intends to take public transit to the site.  So06:04:02PM 20
the two parking spaces will be designated for21
customers.  There's, also, plentiful parking on22
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Green Bay Road.1
MR. MARESCO:  Excuse me.  This is the2

old post office site, right?3
MR. COREN:  Yes.4
MR. BIAGI:  That's included5

catty-corner, like this, that's part of the same6
complex is what you were saying?7

MS. SAED:  I'm not familiar with the8
old post office.9

MR. COREN:  Yes.  Just being a little06:04:28PM 10
familiar from when the entire area sold at11
auction, I think in 2019, they purchased all of12
the units, which includes Washington Gardens,13
Blow By Blow, and the cannabis dispensary; and,14
more recently, I think was Senator Morrison's15
office.16

MR. MARESCO:  Okay.  I didn't know it17
was an L-shape as part of one.  Okay.  That's18
fine.19

MR. COREN:  Some of the utilities are06:04:50PM 20
connected.  It's a mess.21

MS. SAED:  Yeah, so this is on the west22

7

side.1
MR. MARESCO:  I know exactly what2

you're talking about.3
MS. SAED:  Okay.  Excellent.4
MR. BIAGI:  I have a question on the5

parking.  Is that on Highwood Avenue or is it6
behind through that alley in the back?7

MS. SAED:  The parking is through that8
alley in the back.  So I can't point it out,9
here, but it's right here (indicating).06:05:07PM 10

MR. MARTINEZ:  Would there be signage11
indicating that patrons should be parking12
behind?13

MS. SAED:  We can certainly add signage14
that parking will be behind.15

MR. MARTINEZ:  It's kind of a secret16
spot is the reason I ask.17

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Maybe something in18
front of the door.19

MR. MARTINEZ:  I'm not even sure if06:05:24PM 20
it's permitted to have signs there indicated as21
such.22

8

The other question regarding, I1
guess, parking is:  What would be, like, your2
expected hours?  And, also, what would be the3
approximate time that patrons would be there; in4
other words, would people just be there for an5
hour or two hours, five hours?  And -- Like,6
what are your hours.7

MR. CAMACHO:  That's in the next slide.8
So during the week, we plan noon to 8:00 p.m.9
Again, a lot of our clients usually -- at least06:05:56PM 10
I'm hoping they will be taking public11
transportation.  But, usually, they are12
estimated between an hour a person.  Sometimes13
we do get bigger projects that could take up to14
four hours.  Usually, that's what we use as a15
catalyst.  We tell people if it's a longer16
session, four hours would be the max.17

MR. MARTINEZ:  Cool.18
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  I had a quick19

question.06:06:22PM 20
MS. SAED:  Yes.21
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  You have no employees,22

9

you're going to be the only person there?1
MR. CAMACHO:  I'm going to be the head2

person.  I will have two other people.  I have3
another artist that has been tattooing with me4
for the last ten years in the city and, then,5
another person who I have been working with for6
another five years working in Lake Bluff.7

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  They would also be8
taking public, I assume?9

MR. CAMACHO:  Yes.  Exactly.  Or06:06:44PM 10
commute together.11

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Thank you.12
MS. SAED:  Thank you.13

I'll head back to --14
MR. MARTINEZ:  Sorry.15
MS. SAED:  Not a problem.  Just to give16

a broader overview of the use and the property.17
So, also, regarding the parking, City Manager18
Coren notified us that this use isn't more19
intensive than the previous use, so we're under06:07:02PM 20
the impression that we won't need parking,21
really, for this site.22
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We do believe that this use1
compliments surrounding uses.  Highwood is a2
major art scene.  The Odd Originals, down the3
street, recently had their grand opening.  And4
just from walking around the downtown area, you5
could see that Highwood is definitely a home for6
artists, whether it's visual artists, audio7
artists.  You know, 28 Mile Distillery has8
their, you know, shows on the weekends.9
Highwood is a very vibrant and attractive place06:07:37PM 10
for artists, which is why we believe this will11
be a great fit in the community.12

We also know, for a number of13
years, Highwood was home to a tattoo parlor that14
was located not too far away.  They also15
received a special use permit and they had been16
operating for a number of years until this past17
August, so there seems to be a demand in this18
area and there seems to be a void, also, because19
that artist retired.  So we think this is an06:08:13PM 20
exciting new addition to the community.21

I'm going to pass it off to Orlando22

11

to discuss the space and his vision.1
MR. CAMACHO:  Okay.  So the space is2

about 1,545 square feet.  It's currently vacant.3
It has been vacant for the last two years.  At4
least that's what the city -- the property owner5
has told me.6

There is a large space that's for7
the lobby where we will plan to have people8
sitting, waiting.  Then a larger area where we9
plan to have workstations.  There is also two06:08:48PM 10
little offices that we'll be using sparingly.11

As far as anything that needs to be12
done or made up inside of the space, I think the13
only thing that's missing is a handwashing sink14
to make it compliant with the State Health15
Board.  And, then, other than that, it's just,16
kind of, cosmetic stuff, lights for us to be17
able to work in there and have enough space, and18
stuff like that.19

Any questions?06:09:21PM 20
MR. BIAGI:  Do you have to be licensed21

by the state to -- because there's some blood22

12

and health issues?1
MR. CAMACHO:  All artists, if you're2

working professionally, have to have a3
bloodborne pathogen license.  That's in order to4
make sure you know how to properly handle and5
throw away material that may be contaminated6
with blood.  There is also -- I will have to7
have a company that will come and pick up the8
sharps containers from us for proper disposal.9

MR. MARESCO:  Kind of like medical06:09:51PM 10
disposal?11

MR. CAMACHO:  Exactly.  That's a12
contract I will have to make and they will pick13
up that stuff for us.14

MR. MARESCO:  How many stations are you15
going to have?  If you already mentioned it,16
sorry.17

MR. CAMACHO:  Right now, there's enough18
space for four stations.  I don't like to be19
cramped up when we're tattooing, so there will06:10:08PM 20
be only three stations.  That's pretty much it.21

Any other questions?22

13

MR. BELUCH:  This tattoo1
parlor/gallery, how much of your use of the2
space usage there is going to be gallery and3
what kind of gallery?4

MR. CAMACHO:  So, for the gallery, we5
imagined, it's going to be quarterly art shows.6
The tattoo stations are movable, so I plan on7
moving that to -- outside of the area when we're8
presenting art gallery shows and/or we might be9
doing some -- what's it called -- bookbinding --06:10:42PM 10
community bookbinding events.11

I have a friend that's right here12
at Ragdale and that's, kind of, one of their13
practices that they have been doing for many,14
many years.  And so we hope we will have a night15
where we can invite the community to just learn16
how to make books.  With that, again, we move17
all of the tattoo stations out of the way, so18
that larger work area would double as the19
gallery, as well.06:11:08PM 20

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  That would be, like,21
once a -- I was not understanding.22
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MR. CAMACHO:  So quarterly would be,1
like, every three months we have an actual art2
show.3

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  For one day?4
MR. CAMACHO:  Like, an opening and art5

work displayed.6
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Four days a year?7
MR. CAMACHO:  Exactly.  For the gallery8

show.  As far as for the bookbinding, it might9
be once a month.  It just, really, depends on06:11:31PM 10
the other artists.11

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  More of a tattoo shop12
and side gig of gallery?13

MR. CAMACHO:  Correct.14
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  So, on any day, you15

won't have an artist, it looks like.16
MR. CAMACHO:  The art will be displayed17

for three months at a time.  We will have an18
actual opening night and, then, after that, you19
can come in.06:11:50PM 20

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  People can come in and21
just look at the art and not get a tattoo.22

15

MR. CAMACHO:  And not get a tattoo,1
correct.  You don't have to get a tattoo.2

MR. MARTINEZ:  Do you have an3
expectation when you would have the art4
openings?  The reason I ask is that that corner5
does get pretty busy around the times of, say,6
3:30 to 8:00.  You know, after -- after 5:00 --7
From 5:00 to 8:00, it's a very active corner.8

MR. CAMACHO:  Very busy, yes.  Yes.9
MR. MARTINEZ:  My question would be:06:12:16PM 10

Would you anticipate having, say, a quarterly11
art show, like, a Friday night at 6:00?12

MR. CAMACHO:  I would want to take a13
look at what the community has before I try to14
do anything.  It would be nice to also get brand15
new people to walk through into openings.16
Especially for artists, it would be nicer to17
have the space filled so they could take full18
advantage of the space.19

For that, I think it's just going06:12:39PM 20
to be more of feeling that out and understanding21
the community and how much, like, traffic I get.22

16

MR. MARTINEZ:  One other question,1
somewhat related.  We saw the rendering in the2
packet of the facade and the signage.  Would you3
anticipate having, like, say, sandwich sidewalk4
boards, sort of, like Windy City has?5

MR. CAMACHO:  I'm not a big fan of6
sandwich boards as much.  If I did, I would7
bring it up to you guys before I put anything8
out there.9

MS. SAED:  To see what's compliant with06:13:12PM 10
the code.11

MR. CAMACHO:  Correct.12
MR. MARESCO:  To, kind of, piggyback on13

that, looking at what was submitted in the14
proposal, it seemed like just block lettering.15

MR. CAMACHO:  Yes.16
MR. MARESCO:  Usually, when you think17

of a tattoo parlor, you think of bright colors,18
you know, not talking about neon signs --19

MR. CAMACHO:  No.  No.  I had two06:13:30PM 20
different designs.  One was a little bit more21
artistic where the letters were stacked together22

17

and off to the side; but I was told, perhaps,1
this would fit a little bit more with the town's2
aesthetics.  We just wanted to make sure that3
we're compliant.4

MR. JABLECKI:  Any signage would have5
to go through ARC approval.6

MR. CAMACHO:  Right.7
Anything else?8

MR. MARTINEZ:  There it is.9
MR. CAMACHO:  There it is.06:13:54PM 10
MS. SAED:  These goose neck lights11

would remain as they are existing in the12
picture.13

MR. CAMACHO:  For the signage on the14
door, it's pretty much that but with the hours15
of operation.  I would also -- Like I said,16
maybe, if we need to, we can put another17
lettering or something that says there's18
additional parking in the rear.  Again, as long19
as it's compliant.06:14:24PM 20

Any other questions?21
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Do we open it up to22
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the public?1

MR. JABLECKI:  Exactly.2
MS. SAED:  We have a few more slides.3
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  I'm sorry.  My4

apologies.5
MR. CAMACHO:  So for the tattoo space,6

again, we're trying to do something that's7
beyond just tattoos.  We wanted to make sure8
it's offering an artistic community within9
Highwood.  I, kind of, chose the town because I06:14:47PM 10
saw the restaurants, I saw the art, and I11
figured that it would be a great fit for12
something that I'm trying to do.  It's not just13
going to be, like, a biker tattoo sort of thing.14
I wanted to elevate the work.15

I, myself, went to the School of16
Art Institute and just want to push that sort of17
idea in tattooing, that it's more than just,18
like, bikers and tattoos.19

As far as the space, again, we're06:15:18PM 20
trying to make sure that everyone can come into21
the space and is welcome; make sure that if you22

19
have ideas, we can help you translate that into1
a tattoo.  Like I said, both myself and my2
friend, Cory Zayon (phonetic), is an artist of3
20 years in the tattooing business and, then, a4
younger guy who, also, is learning and doing5
really great work.  We wanted to make sure the6
town has good work behind it.7

MS. SAED:  We, also, noted in the staff8
report that the tattooing industry is growing.9
So, for that reason, also we think that this06:15:54PM 10
could be a great potential use for this site and11
a use for the city.12

To wrap things up, as we said, the13
proposed use will be a great destination, not14
only for locals but we think that it will draw15
people from all over the Chicagoland area.  It's16
right off the Metra.  It is interconnected with17
the surrounding communities.  It's really close18
to the interstate just to the west.  So this is19
a great opportunity to bring a new and creative06:16:27PM 20
use to this space.21

The nearest tattoo parlor from here22

20
is about 10 miles west and there's another one1
10 miles north.  So this is not a highly2
competitive space, at least in this area.  Also,3
this isn't a very intensive use.  So tattooing4
is a fairly quiet business.  All noise will be5
contained to the site.  You know, no, like, rock6
music playing while they are tattooing or7
anything like that.  We don't believe this will8
cause any negative externalities to neighbors or9
impact the neighborhood esthetic.06:17:11PM 10

If you have any more questions,11
we'll be happy to answer.  Thank you all very12
much for your time.13

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  Thank you.  At this14
time, we open it up to the public for any15
comment or questions.16

(No response.)17
MR. JABLECKI:  If there's no more18

questions from the commissioners, you can close19
the public hearing and discuss.06:17:43PM 20

CHAIRMAN MEYER:  You guys all good?21
Now we close it down.  You can sit22

21
down now.1

MR. JABLECKI:  Motion to close the2
public hearing.3

MR. MARESCO:  Make a motion to close4
the public hearing.5

MR. BIAGI:  Second.6
CHAIRMAN MEYER:  All in favor.7

(All aye.)8
(Which were all of the9
proceedings had in the10
above-entitled cause.)11

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

              I, KRISTI LANDOLINA, Certified
Shorthand Reporter, Registered Professional
Reporter, and Notary Public in and for the
County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby
certify that previous to the commencement of the
examination and testimony of the various
witnesses herein, they were duly sworn to
testify the truth in relation to the matters
pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by
said witnesses was reduced to writing by means
of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into
typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a
true, correct and complete transcript of my
shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.
              IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have
hereunto set my hand and affixed my electronic
signature this 26th day of November, A.D. 2024.

                       /s/ Kristi Landolina
                       KRISTI LANDOLINA,
                       C.S.R. No. 084-004611,
                       Notary Public, DuPage County
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STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
       )  ss:
COUNTY OF LAKE  )

BEFORE THE HIGHWOOD PLANNING
 AND ZONING COMMISSION

In the Matter of: )
)

Petition of Edward J. Morelli, ) 
2638 St. Johns Avenue, Highland ) 
Park, Illinois on the Property )
At 140 Morgan Place, Highwood, )
Illinois (PIN# 16-15-423-008) )
Being a Residential Home in the ) 
R-2 Residential Zoning District ) 
And Amending the Zoning Map for ) 
These Parcels to R-3 Residential) 
Zoning District. )

REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 
taken at the hearing of the above-entitled 
matter before the Highwood Planning and Zoning 
Commission, at 17 Highwood Avenue, Highwood, 
Illinois, on November 13, 2024, at the hour of 
6:00 p.m.

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

MR. CHRIS MEYER, Chairman;

MR. ROMAN BELUCH, Member; 

MR. PETE BIAGI, Member; 

MR. FRANK CAMPOREALE, Member; 

MR. JOEL GETTLEMAN, Member; 

MR. MARK MARESCO, Member, and;

MR. PAUL MARTINEZ, Member.  
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ALSO PRESENT:

MR. HOWARD C. JABLECKI, Village 
    Attorney;

MR. SCOTT COREN, City Manager.  
    Community Development; 

MR. DAVID MEEK, Attorney for 
    Petitioners;

MR. JOSEPH MORELLI, Petitioner.  
________________________________________________

MR. MEYER:  Next, our last one, I hope.  

Petition for Mr. Edward Morelli.

MR. MEEK:  Good evening.  Scott, are 

you giving your staff report first?  

MR. JABLECKI:  Make a motion to open 

the public hearing. 

MR. MEYER:  Make a motion to open up 

the public hearing. 

MR. MARESCO:  Second. 

MR. MEYER:  All in favor.

(All aye.) 

MR. COREN:  I'll give the staff report 

on this one first.  The Planning and Zoning 

Commission did a hearing of appeal on this 

matter in March.  The staff has worked with the 
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petitioner on ways to resolve the outstanding 

issue on the property. 

Ultimately, the Zoning Code calls 

for reducing density in this residential area.  

The petitioner has agreed to do that by reducing 

the unit count from three to two in this area, 

as well as make some improvements to the 

building and structure itself.  

They were already in the process of 

improving the foundation of the home.  I think 

those of you that are following online, there's 

the rendering of the duplex.  You might have 

seen that before.

Staff did have a couple of 

recommendations on that.  We do recommend there 

be some break up of the facade to make it more 

interesting and appealing to put some, you know, 

masonry or brickwork as part of the lower 

portion as part of the building permit process.  

We do have a recommendation to 

allow it to go from three units to two units.  

Also, we do have a recommended fine and cost for 
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doing this of $20,000. 

One additional piece that we're 

adding onto most variations is we're having the 

property owner verify the material of the water 

service and update that.  As we're going through 

the service lines through the community, when we 

do these, we want to add those as conditions.  

Finally, they did request a second 

detached garage, and staff is recommending a 

condition to not add a detached garage.  

Ultimately, I think, this is a good 

deal for the city and for the petitioner, as 

well as, it would be rare for us to grant 

additional density in a single-family owned 

area.  

Going from a single family to 

duplex is a significant give on the city's part 

and I do think their investments into this home, 

after what we have gone through, make quite a 

bit of sense, too.

MR. MEEK:  Thank you.  We appreciate 

it. 
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MR. BELUCH:  I have a question, Scott.  

The fine is with regard to the previous 

situation, correct?  

MR. COREN:  This resolves -- This fine 

resolves everything we have gone through, up to 

this point.  And, at the end, if the planning 

and zoning commission agrees, then they would 

end up having a legal property, rather than 

having a legal nonconforming or illegal. 

MR. BELUCH:  Legal.  Okay. 

MR. COREN:  It would become legal.

MR. MEEK:  Thank you, Scott.  I 

appreciate staff working with us and supporting 

what we're proposing here.  I'll just add a few 

things.  I did put together an application.  I 

trust you have read that.

Seeing the basis of our argument, 

this was just -- Just to quickly reiterate, this 

has been, as far as we know, for a very long 

time, used as a three-unit property.  Maybe the 

necessary due diligence wasn't done before it 

was acquired for the continuation of the use.  
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There is -- It's going to be costly, but there 

is the capacity to convert it to two units, to 

take it from three to two.  There's one way to 

do that.  That's going to cause some significant 

investment, but my client is intending to do 

that.  This is the house he wanted to 

rehabilitate and refurbish. 

Interestingly, there is some 

tension between the zoning designation and the 

city's comp plan.  It shows it's a multifamily 

use.  So, hopefully, this will sort of -- this 

will align with that and help to justify the 

request.  

Just to be clear, we're not 

increasing the floor area of the building.  It's 

going to be the same building and it will just 

be both interior and exterior improvements.  

We do want to still advocate for 

the second garage.  The reason is pretty simple.  

There's two driveways.  There's one garage that, 

clearly, services the north apartment, the 

existing two-story apartment, and it's a single 
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lane driveway that goes back to a garage in the 

backyard.  It would be, operationally, a lot 

better for -- given -- for the garage and garage 

used for storage and parking and this turnaround 

area to have a secondary garage for storage and 

interior parking for the other unit, which 

already has an existing driveway.  There just 

isn't a garage at the end of that driveway.  The 

lot is big enough that we can easily do a garage 

that is compliant with setback, FAR, et cetera.  

There's, I think, a good 

justification for having a second garage.  I 

know there was some concern about there was a 

tenant who was doing something -- apparently, 

operating some sort of business out of the 

garage.  That was a tenant issue.  That's not 

really the zoning issue.  I understand the 

city's concern with that.  

I don't think, inherently, having a 

second garage is suggestive of or supportive of 

somebody -- some other tenant conducting any 

kind of business operations out of that 
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secondary garage.  I think it's a more practical 

concern and consideration for the attractiveness 

of the building, as a leasable premise, to have 

a clearly defined garage space and easily 

accessible without any potential for conflicts 

of cars being stuck -- your car being stuck 

behind somebody else's who has guests over,    

et cetera, park in the one garage -- the one 

driveway that leads to the back of the house.  

So we would like to ask for your support for 

allowing us to do a garage and not have the 

prohibition -- 

MR. MARTINEZ:  How big would the second 

garage be?

MR. MORELLI:  Two-car garage.  The 

duplex across the street has two garages on each 

side, sort of, what I want to do.  There's a 

garage on each side of the duplex right across 

from me with two driveways.

MR. MEEK:  How big?  

MR. MORELLI:  Probably, 24-by-24. 

MR. MEYER:  How many cars is the 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

06:37:28PM

06:37:52PM

KATHLEEN W. BONO, CSR, LIMITED

630-834-7779

9

existing garage?  

MR. MORELLI:  That's on the other side?  

MR. MEEK:  Yes. 

MR. MORELLI:  That's bigger.  That's 

24-by-26 or something like that, the existing 

garage that's there now.

MR. MEEK:  Okay.  Thank you.  So we 

think -- In conclusion, we think that this, you 

know, resolves outstanding issues, we think it's 

consistent with the comprehensive plan, policy 

goals of the city, and we hope for your support 

in this proposal. 

MR. BIAGI:  Is there a possibility of 

making one large garage, rather than two 

separate garages, or does that not fall into 

the -- 

MR. MEEK:  Ed, you can articulate the 

concern better than I can, perhaps, but the 

concern is you have a single-lane driveway 

leading to the back and to the extent that 

there's parking in that driveway that it might 

block somebody coming out. 
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MR. GETTLEMAN:  Two driveways?  

MR. MEEK:  Right now, there's two 

driveways, one on each side.  One doesn't lead 

to a garage and one does. 

MR. GETTLEMAN:  Right. 

MR. MORELLI:  There are two curb cuts. 

MR. BIAGI:  Does it widen out, though, 

at the end like so many of the houses here where 

it's a single lane and it widens out?  

MR. MEEK:  A little bit but it's not 

like a big courtyard. 

MR. BIAGI:  Do you have any drawings?

MR. MEEK:  I do.  I can show you.

MR. JABLECKI:  Scott, does zoning allow 

two accessory structures?  

MR. COREN:  I don't remember. 

MR. JABLECKI:  My concern is that we 

only have a request for rezoning.

MR. MEEK:  Uh-huh. 

MR. JABLECKI:  So if there's a request, 

ultimately, it may require a variance.

MR. MEEK:  For a second -- I thought 
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there was only a limit on floor area, not -- I 

mean, people have garages and they have sheds.  

They have pergolas and they have garages.  They 

have detached decks associated with pools, et 

cetera. 

MR. COREN:  I don't recall that 

restriction but that doesn't -- Just going off 

my memory. 

MR. MORELLI:  I didn't come across 

that. 

MR. JABLECKI:  I can't recall either.  

MR. BELUCH:  Could that be another 

petition for that, for the garages?  

MR. BIAGI:  So you would add the garage 

at the end of the southern asphalt drive; is 

that what you're proposing?  

MR. MEEK:  Correct.  Correct.  Again, 

you can verify it in the code.  With respect to 

a third structure, I think the prohibitions, 

generally, are on additional principal uses, 

multiple principal use structures on the 

building.  Most residential codes don't allow 
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two principal structures on a structure -- on 

one lot, but I'm not familiar with the 

prohibition on two accessory structures. 

MR. BIAGI:  Right.  It's not a 

single-family home at that point. 

MR. MEYER:  So it is zoned -- It always 

used to be multi and, then, through us doing 

rezoning, we rezoned it to single family and it 

could have come in and got a variance on that 

and, then, would that have inhibited him from -- 

You know, I think of a town home having two 

garages.  You know what I'm saying?  

MR. BELUCH:  We never rezoned it.  We 

just said it was legal nonconforming.

MR. MEEK:  Then, it wasn't because -- 

That was the determination that was made in the 

spring, that it was legal nonconforming.  It was 

not legal conforming anymore.  Or it never was. 

MR. COREN:  The comp plan had that area 

as multifamily.  So we made some changes within 

the neighborhoods themselves as we dove into it.  

As an example, some duplex homes 
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that we designated as single family, we, 

ultimately, didn't down zone because it was 

built as a duplex.  You have two doors.  It just 

functions that way.

So the comp plan calls for this to 

be multifamily, which I think is why the 

attorney is saying there's justification for 

increasing the density to this particular lot. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Is it impermeable 

asphalt on the drawing?  

MR. MEEK:  You can see on the survey, 

there is a driveway to the garage, there is a 

grass backyard, and there is a -- is it 

gravel -- is the south driveway gravel or -- 

MR. MORELLI:  It's blacktop.  Right.  

There would be a big yard between the two 

garages.  There is a lot of space between the 

two of them.

MR. MEEK:  The lot is not large enough 

to subdivide.  It's a little too undersized for 

that, but it's a big lot for the area. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  You wouldn't be adding 
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an additional impermeable structure above it, 

right?  

MR. MEEK:  Well, the garage would be 

the additional impermeable structure. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Right.  It would be 

increasing -- 

MR. MEEK:  On the entirety of the lot, 

correct. 

MR. MEYER:  But it doesn't break the 

threshold. 

MR. BIAGI:  Has there ever been two 

garages on this property that we know of?  

MR. MORELLI:  Not that I know of, no.  

There is a shed there now that they store stuff 

in.  I think it would be nicer for somebody to 

have a garage to park their car in the winter 

and put their bicycle, so it doesn't gather 

outside. 

MR. MEYER:  Unless you guys can tell me 

differently, I don't know. 

I guess we'll open it up.  Do you 

guys have any questions for -- I don't know 
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about the argument that he's not allowed.  He 

can get a variance. 

MR. JABLECKI:  What's being requested 

is the rezoning.  Staff's recommendation is, as 

a condition to that rezoning, that there be a 

prohibition on adding the second detached 

garage. 

MR. MEYER:  Is there -- 

MR. MARESCO:  Legal reasons. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  No because it's already 

nonconforming.  Basically, the commission would 

be allowing it to be -- extending it beyond what 

would normally be legal but, as a condition of 

that extension, we're saying no garage.  So now 

it would be dependent upon us -- It sounds like 

the petitioner is saying, please, give us the 

extension, say no longer conforming but let us 

do a garage.

MR. MEEK:  I take some issues with 

that. 

MR. JABLECKI:  Ultimately, if the 

condition is in the rezoning and that's the 
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recommendation of the council, then that would 

be the recommendation.  If the condition is not 

included in the recommendation, then it may 

require further proceedings when they determine 

the size, the scope, whatever they want to 

build.  If it -- It may have to go through 

further review.  

MR. GETTLEMAN:  We're either approving 

as-is or not approving?  

MR. JABLECKI:  You're either approving 

the rezoning with staff's conditions -- 

MR. MARESCO:  With no garage -- second 

garage. 

MR. JABLECKI:  -- or with whatever 

conditions you feel are appropriate for the 

recommendation. 

MR. MARESCO:  Just spit-balling, you 

know, just my opinion, looking at pictures, 

looking at the plat of survey, et cetera, you 

know, common sense tells me you have a duplex 

unit, you have a two multifamily home, there is 

two driveways, one has a garage, the other 
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doesn't.  As long as it complies, at least 

physically, it will add property -- it will add 

value -- 

MR. MEYER:  I agree. 

MR. MARESCO:  -- to the house.  You 

know, as long as they don't go overboard.  I 

don't know -- You're saying 24-by-24.  I think 

that's another conversation we should have, 

though, at least. 

MR. COREN:  Just so the planning and 

zoning commission understands, as we were 

originally going through this, staff didn't have 

an objection to a second detached garage; 

however, we ended up getting a complaint that 

there was a business operating out of the 

garage. 

MR. MEYER:  That's right.  We didn't 

have -- 

MR. MARESCO:  What kind of business, 

first off?  

MR. COREN:  They ceased at this point 

but they were using the garage.
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MR. MEEK:  I think it would be unfair 

to hold the fact that the tenant -- 

MR. MORELLI:  He moved right away. 

MR. MEEK:  -- against the landlord. 

MR. MORELLI:  The day I went over 

there, he moved everything out right away. 

MR. MEYER:  That's already you can't 

operate a business out of your garage, right?  

MR. COREN:  So you can operate a 

business out of a garage but the complaint that 

came in was, look, you already have zoning 

proceedings against the property.  While they 

were already in zoning violation, they are 

continuing by operating a business from the home 

that the neighbors can see and has some impact 

upon them.

So, as we were looking at this, you 

know, if we're going to continue with having 

some density on a rental property that's being 

used as a commercial business, is there a need 

to add a second detached garage?  Now, I don't 

think it should be -- Staff's recommendation 
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wouldn't be that you have to have no second 

garage or this won't work.  It's just we thought 

that that was a way to help prohibit some 

activity that was going on at the property that 

probably shouldn't have occurred.

We always like to add extra value.  

We even have a detached garage being added in an 

area where there is not as much room and is more 

challenging.  That's what's open.  I certainly 

understand opinions on that. 

MR. MEYER:  I love that argument but -- 

MR. GETTLEMAN:  We can say that you 

could have another garage, as long as they are 

not doing anything illegal in there. 

MR. MARESCO:  Again, as long as it 

complies physically, it's not that, you know, 

you have to get a survey done or something done. 

MR. JABLECKI:  They have to submit 

building permit, applications, and plans.

MR. MEEK:  If, for some reason, there 

was a need for a variation, then we would 

consider coming back to ask for that; otherwise, 
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we wouldn't be able to do it without it.  I 

don't believe there is a need for a variation.  

And thank you, Scott, for 

explaining the background of it.  I think it 

would be kind of unjust to hold us back from 

being able to do something that anybody else 

with a duplex, potentially, could do, as long as 

it's conforming code, based on the bad act of a 

tenant. 

MR. BIAGI:  I take some objection to 

having two driveways on a small property, in 

that we have lots of pavement there that cars 

can stack up and everything.  Is this a property 

where you could have one driveway and get around 

to two garages?  Or is that something an 

architect would, you know -- 

MR. MORELLI:  I think that would cover 

a lot more impervious area doing that.  You lose 

the yard in the back.  You would be driving 

through the backyard in order to get to the 

garage. 

MR. BIAGI:  I've got you. 
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MR. MORELLI:  The house right across 

the street from me has two driveways and two 

garages.  I looked at that and thought that it 

would be nice and look nice in the neighborhood, 

rather than have a shed and have people put 

their bicycles outside and cars outside.  

Honestly, it might increase my 

rental, you know, because I'm losing the three 

units.  I'm going down to two now, so I would 

like a nicer place for people to live.  That's 

my thought. 

MR. BIAGI:  You see two driveways -- 

MR. MEEK:  If this was a smaller lot, 

maybe it would have more resonance but I think 

that this is still a big backyard area.  We 

appreciate the chance to look into that. 

MR. JABLECKI:  You can open it up for 

public comment. 

MR. MEYER:  Let me open it up for 

public comment.  Does anybody have any 

questions, comments, any concerns?  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  It sounds like a 
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beautiful plan.  It's Chicago.  I mean, it's 

weather -- The weather we have, it's nice for 

the renters to have garage on both sides. 

MR. JABLECKI:  Just to be clear, the 

recommendation, right now, we're not approving a 

garage.  If there's a recommendation, it's we're 

recommending the rezoning.  The question is 

whether there should be a condition prohibiting 

a second garage. 

MR. MEYER:  Anybody have any more 

questions?

(No response.)

Then, I think, we should make a 

motion to close the open meeting. 

MR. JABLECKI:  There's no further 

comment from the public, correct?  

MR. MEYER:  I already asked. 

MR. JABLECKI:  The motion is to close 

the public hearing. 

MR. MEYER:  Make a motion to close 

public comment.

All in favor.
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(All aye.) 

(Which were all of the 

proceedings had in the 

above-entitled cause.)
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
)  ss:

COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

I, KRISTI LANDOLINA, Certified 

Shorthand Reporter, Registered Professional 

Reporter, and Notary Public in and for the 

County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby 

certify that previous to the commencement of the 

examination and testimony of the various 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS  )
                   )  ss:
COUNTY OF LAKE     )

BEFORE THE HIGHWOOD PLANNING
 AND ZONING COMMISSION

In the Matter of:               )
                                )
Petition of Edward J. Morelli,  ) 
2638 St. Johns Avenue, Highland ) 
Park, Illinois on the Property  )
At 140 Morgan Place, Highwood,  )
Illinois (PIN# 16-15-423-008)   )
Being a Residential Home in the ) 
R-2 Residential Zoning District ) 
And Amending the Zoning Map for ) 
These Parcels to R-3 Residential) 
Zoning District.                )

         REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 
taken at the hearing of the above-entitled 
matter before the Highwood Planning and Zoning 
Commission, at 17 Highwood Avenue, Highwood, 
Illinois, on November 13, 2024, at the hour of 
6:00 p.m.

     BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

         MR. CHRIS MEYER, Chairman;

         MR. ROMAN BELUCH, Member; 

         MR. PETE BIAGI, Member; 

         MR. FRANK CAMPOREALE, Member; 

         MR. JOEL GETTLEMAN, Member; 

         MR. MARK MARESCO, Member, and;

         MR. PAUL MARTINEZ, Member.  
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     ALSO PRESENT:1

         MR. HOWARD C. JABLECKI, Village2
             Attorney;

3
         MR. SCOTT COREN, City Manager.
             Community Development;4

         MR. DAVID MEEK, Attorney for5
             Petitioners;

6
         MR. JOSEPH MORELLI, Petitioner.
________________________________________________7

MR. MEYER:  Next, our last one, I hope.8
Petition for Mr. Edward Morelli.9

MR. MEEK:  Good evening.  Scott, are06:30:42PM 10
you giving your staff report first?11

MR. JABLECKI:  Make a motion to open12
the public hearing.13

MR. MEYER:  Make a motion to open up14
the public hearing.15

MR. MARESCO:  Second.16
MR. MEYER:  All in favor.17

(All aye.)18
MR. COREN:  I'll give the staff report19

on this one first.  The Planning and Zoning06:31:00PM 20
Commission did a hearing of appeal on this21
matter in March.  The staff has worked with the22

3

petitioner on ways to resolve the outstanding1
issue on the property.2

Ultimately, the Zoning Code calls3
for reducing density in this residential area.4
The petitioner has agreed to do that by reducing5
the unit count from three to two in this area,6
as well as make some improvements to the7
building and structure itself.8

They were already in the process of9
improving the foundation of the home.  I think06:31:30PM 10
those of you that are following online, there's11
the rendering of the duplex.  You might have12
seen that before.13

Staff did have a couple of14
recommendations on that.  We do recommend there15
be some break up of the facade to make it more16
interesting and appealing to put some, you know,17
masonry or brickwork as part of the lower18
portion as part of the building permit process.19

We do have a recommendation to06:32:03PM 20
allow it to go from three units to two units.21
Also, we do have a recommended fine and cost for22

4

doing this of $20,000.1
One additional piece that we're2

adding onto most variations is we're having the3
property owner verify the material of the water4
service and update that.  As we're going through5
the service lines through the community, when we6
do these, we want to add those as conditions.7

Finally, they did request a second8
detached garage, and staff is recommending a9
condition to not add a detached garage.06:32:41PM 10

Ultimately, I think, this is a good11
deal for the city and for the petitioner, as12
well as, it would be rare for us to grant13
additional density in a single-family owned14
area.15

Going from a single family to16
duplex is a significant give on the city's part17
and I do think their investments into this home,18
after what we have gone through, make quite a19
bit of sense, too.06:33:02PM 20

MR. MEEK:  Thank you.  We appreciate21
it.22

5

MR. BELUCH:  I have a question, Scott.1
The fine is with regard to the previous2
situation, correct?3

MR. COREN:  This resolves -- This fine4
resolves everything we have gone through, up to5
this point.  And, at the end, if the planning6
and zoning commission agrees, then they would7
end up having a legal property, rather than8
having a legal nonconforming or illegal.9

MR. BELUCH:  Legal.  Okay.06:33:29PM 10
MR. COREN:  It would become legal.11
MR. MEEK:  Thank you, Scott.  I12

appreciate staff working with us and supporting13
what we're proposing here.  I'll just add a few14
things.  I did put together an application.  I15
trust you have read that.16

Seeing the basis of our argument,17
this was just -- Just to quickly reiterate, this18
has been, as far as we know, for a very long19
time, used as a three-unit property.  Maybe the06:33:56PM 20
necessary due diligence wasn't done before it21
was acquired for the continuation of the use.22
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There is -- It's going to be costly, but there1
is the capacity to convert it to two units, to2
take it from three to two.  There's one way to3
do that.  That's going to cause some significant4
investment, but my client is intending to do5
that.  This is the house he wanted to6
rehabilitate and refurbish.7

Interestingly, there is some8
tension between the zoning designation and the9
city's comp plan.  It shows it's a multifamily06:34:32PM 10
use.  So, hopefully, this will sort of -- this11
will align with that and help to justify the12
request.13

Just to be clear, we're not14
increasing the floor area of the building.  It's15
going to be the same building and it will just16
be both interior and exterior improvements.17

We do want to still advocate for18
the second garage.  The reason is pretty simple.19
There's two driveways.  There's one garage that,06:35:01PM 20
clearly, services the north apartment, the21
existing two-story apartment, and it's a single22

7

lane driveway that goes back to a garage in the1
backyard.  It would be, operationally, a lot2
better for -- given -- for the garage and garage3
used for storage and parking and this turnaround4
area to have a secondary garage for storage and5
interior parking for the other unit, which6
already has an existing driveway.  There just7
isn't a garage at the end of that driveway.  The8
lot is big enough that we can easily do a garage9
that is compliant with setback, FAR, et cetera.06:35:40PM 10

There's, I think, a good11
justification for having a second garage.  I12
know there was some concern about there was a13
tenant who was doing something -- apparently,14
operating some sort of business out of the15
garage.  That was a tenant issue.  That's not16
really the zoning issue.  I understand the17
city's concern with that.18

I don't think, inherently, having a19
second garage is suggestive of or supportive of06:36:04PM 20
somebody -- some other tenant conducting any21
kind of business operations out of that22

8

secondary garage.  I think it's a more practical1
concern and consideration for the attractiveness2
of the building, as a leasable premise, to have3
a clearly defined garage space and easily4
accessible without any potential for conflicts5
of cars being stuck -- your car being stuck6
behind somebody else's who has guests over,7
et cetera, park in the one garage -- the one8
driveway that leads to the back of the house.9
So we would like to ask for your support for06:36:41PM 10
allowing us to do a garage and not have the11
prohibition --12

MR. MARTINEZ:  How big would the second13
garage be?14

MR. MORELLI:  Two-car garage.  The15
duplex across the street has two garages on each16
side, sort of, what I want to do.  There's a17
garage on each side of the duplex right across18
from me with two driveways.19

MR. MEEK:  How big?06:37:06PM 20
MR. MORELLI:  Probably, 24-by-24.21
MR. MEYER:  How many cars is the22

9

existing garage?1
MR. MORELLI:  That's on the other side?2
MR. MEEK:  Yes.3
MR. MORELLI:  That's bigger.  That's4

24-by-26 or something like that, the existing5
garage that's there now.6

MR. MEEK:  Okay.  Thank you.  So we7
think -- In conclusion, we think that this, you8
know, resolves outstanding issues, we think it's9
consistent with the comprehensive plan, policy06:37:28PM 10
goals of the city, and we hope for your support11
in this proposal.12

MR. BIAGI:  Is there a possibility of13
making one large garage, rather than two14
separate garages, or does that not fall into15
the --16

MR. MEEK:  Ed, you can articulate the17
concern better than I can, perhaps, but the18
concern is you have a single-lane driveway19
leading to the back and to the extent that06:37:52PM 20
there's parking in that driveway that it might21
block somebody coming out.22
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MR. GETTLEMAN:  Two driveways?1
MR. MEEK:  Right now, there's two2

driveways, one on each side.  One doesn't lead3
to a garage and one does.4

MR. GETTLEMAN:  Right.5
MR. MORELLI:  There are two curb cuts.6
MR. BIAGI:  Does it widen out, though,7

at the end like so many of the houses here where8
it's a single lane and it widens out?9

MR. MEEK:  A little bit but it's not06:38:15PM 10
like a big courtyard.11

MR. BIAGI:  Do you have any drawings?12
MR. MEEK:  I do.  I can show you.13
MR. JABLECKI:  Scott, does zoning allow14

two accessory structures?15
MR. COREN:  I don't remember.16
MR. JABLECKI:  My concern is that we17

only have a request for rezoning.18
MR. MEEK:  Uh-huh.19
MR. JABLECKI:  So if there's a request,06:38:34PM 20

ultimately, it may require a variance.21
MR. MEEK:  For a second -- I thought22

11

there was only a limit on floor area, not -- I1
mean, people have garages and they have sheds.2
They have pergolas and they have garages.  They3
have detached decks associated with pools, et4
cetera.5

MR. COREN:  I don't recall that6
restriction but that doesn't -- Just going off7
my memory.8

MR. MORELLI:  I didn't come across9
that.06:39:09PM 10

MR. JABLECKI:  I can't recall either.11
MR. BELUCH:  Could that be another12

petition for that, for the garages?13
MR. BIAGI:  So you would add the garage14

at the end of the southern asphalt drive; is15
that what you're proposing?16

MR. MEEK:  Correct.  Correct.  Again,17
you can verify it in the code.  With respect to18
a third structure, I think the prohibitions,19
generally, are on additional principal uses,06:39:39PM 20
multiple principal use structures on the21
building.  Most residential codes don't allow22

12

two principal structures on a structure -- on1
one lot, but I'm not familiar with the2
prohibition on two accessory structures.3

MR. BIAGI:  Right.  It's not a4
single-family home at that point.5

MR. MEYER:  So it is zoned -- It always6
used to be multi and, then, through us doing7
rezoning, we rezoned it to single family and it8
could have come in and got a variance on that9
and, then, would that have inhibited him from --06:40:20PM 10
You know, I think of a town home having two11
garages.  You know what I'm saying?12

MR. BELUCH:  We never rezoned it.  We13
just said it was legal nonconforming.14

MR. MEEK:  Then, it wasn't because --15
That was the determination that was made in the16
spring, that it was legal nonconforming.  It was17
not legal conforming anymore.  Or it never was.18

MR. COREN:  The comp plan had that area19
as multifamily.  So we made some changes within06:40:49PM 20
the neighborhoods themselves as we dove into it.21

As an example, some duplex homes22

13

that we designated as single family, we,1
ultimately, didn't down zone because it was2
built as a duplex.  You have two doors.  It just3
functions that way.4

So the comp plan calls for this to5
be multifamily, which I think is why the6
attorney is saying there's justification for7
increasing the density to this particular lot.8

MR. MARTINEZ:  Is it impermeable9
asphalt on the drawing?06:41:21PM 10

MR. MEEK:  You can see on the survey,11
there is a driveway to the garage, there is a12
grass backyard, and there is a -- is it13
gravel -- is the south driveway gravel or --14

MR. MORELLI:  It's blacktop.  Right.15
There would be a big yard between the two16
garages.  There is a lot of space between the17
two of them.18

MR. MEEK:  The lot is not large enough19
to subdivide.  It's a little too undersized for06:41:47PM 20
that, but it's a big lot for the area.21

MR. MARTINEZ:  You wouldn't be adding22
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an additional impermeable structure above it,1
right?2

MR. MEEK:  Well, the garage would be3
the additional impermeable structure.4

MR. MARTINEZ:  Right.  It would be5
increasing --6

MR. MEEK:  On the entirety of the lot,7
correct.8

MR. MEYER:  But it doesn't break the9
threshold.06:42:08PM 10

MR. BIAGI:  Has there ever been two11
garages on this property that we know of?12

MR. MORELLI:  Not that I know of, no.13
There is a shed there now that they store stuff14
in.  I think it would be nicer for somebody to15
have a garage to park their car in the winter16
and put their bicycle, so it doesn't gather17
outside.18

MR. MEYER:  Unless you guys can tell me19
differently, I don't know.06:42:43PM 20

I guess we'll open it up.  Do you21
guys have any questions for -- I don't know22

15

about the argument that he's not allowed.  He1
can get a variance.2

MR. JABLECKI:  What's being requested3
is the rezoning.  Staff's recommendation is, as4
a condition to that rezoning, that there be a5
prohibition on adding the second detached6
garage.7

MR. MEYER:  Is there --8
MR. MARESCO:  Legal reasons.9
MR. MARTINEZ:  No because it's already06:43:17PM 10

nonconforming.  Basically, the commission would11
be allowing it to be -- extending it beyond what12
would normally be legal but, as a condition of13
that extension, we're saying no garage.  So now14
it would be dependent upon us -- It sounds like15
the petitioner is saying, please, give us the16
extension, say no longer conforming but let us17
do a garage.18

MR. MEEK:  I take some issues with19
that.06:43:48PM 20

MR. JABLECKI:  Ultimately, if the21
condition is in the rezoning and that's the22

16

recommendation of the council, then that would1
be the recommendation.  If the condition is not2
included in the recommendation, then it may3
require further proceedings when they determine4
the size, the scope, whatever they want to5
build.  If it -- It may have to go through6
further review.7

MR. GETTLEMAN:  We're either approving8
as-is or not approving?9

MR. JABLECKI:  You're either approving06:44:15PM 10
the rezoning with staff's conditions --11

MR. MARESCO:  With no garage -- second12
garage.13

MR. JABLECKI:  -- or with whatever14
conditions you feel are appropriate for the15
recommendation.16

MR. MARESCO:  Just spit-balling, you17
know, just my opinion, looking at pictures,18
looking at the plat of survey, et cetera, you19
know, common sense tells me you have a duplex06:44:35PM 20
unit, you have a two multifamily home, there is21
two driveways, one has a garage, the other22

17

doesn't.  As long as it complies, at least1
physically, it will add property -- it will add2
value --3

MR. MEYER:  I agree.4
MR. MARESCO:  -- to the house.  You5

know, as long as they don't go overboard.  I6
don't know -- You're saying 24-by-24.  I think7
that's another conversation we should have,8
though, at least.9

MR. COREN:  Just so the planning and06:45:06PM 10
zoning commission understands, as we were11
originally going through this, staff didn't have12
an objection to a second detached garage;13
however, we ended up getting a complaint that14
there was a business operating out of the15
garage.16

MR. MEYER:  That's right.  We didn't17
have --18

MR. MARESCO:  What kind of business,19
first off?06:45:24PM 20

MR. COREN:  They ceased at this point21
but they were using the garage.22
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MR. MEEK:  I think it would be unfair1
to hold the fact that the tenant --2

MR. MORELLI:  He moved right away.3
MR. MEEK:  -- against the landlord.4
MR. MORELLI:  The day I went over5

there, he moved everything out right away.6
MR. MEYER:  That's already you can't7

operate a business out of your garage, right?8
MR. COREN:  So you can operate a9

business out of a garage but the complaint that06:45:43PM 10
came in was, look, you already have zoning11
proceedings against the property.  While they12
were already in zoning violation, they are13
continuing by operating a business from the home14
that the neighbors can see and has some impact15
upon them.16

So, as we were looking at this, you17
know, if we're going to continue with having18
some density on a rental property that's being19
used as a commercial business, is there a need06:46:03PM 20
to add a second detached garage?  Now, I don't21
think it should be -- Staff's recommendation22

19

wouldn't be that you have to have no second1
garage or this won't work.  It's just we thought2
that that was a way to help prohibit some3
activity that was going on at the property that4
probably shouldn't have occurred.5

We always like to add extra value.6
We even have a detached garage being added in an7
area where there is not as much room and is more8
challenging.  That's what's open.  I certainly9
understand opinions on that.06:46:36PM 10

MR. MEYER:  I love that argument but --11
MR. GETTLEMAN:  We can say that you12

could have another garage, as long as they are13
not doing anything illegal in there.14

MR. MARESCO:  Again, as long as it15
complies physically, it's not that, you know,16
you have to get a survey done or something done.17

MR. JABLECKI:  They have to submit18
building permit, applications, and plans.19

MR. MEEK:  If, for some reason, there06:46:58PM 20
was a need for a variation, then we would21
consider coming back to ask for that; otherwise,22

20

we wouldn't be able to do it without it.  I1
don't believe there is a need for a variation.2

And thank you, Scott, for3
explaining the background of it.  I think it4
would be kind of unjust to hold us back from5
being able to do something that anybody else6
with a duplex, potentially, could do, as long as7
it's conforming code, based on the bad act of a8
tenant.9

MR. BIAGI:  I take some objection to06:47:25PM 10
having two driveways on a small property, in11
that we have lots of pavement there that cars12
can stack up and everything.  Is this a property13
where you could have one driveway and get around14
to two garages?  Or is that something an15
architect would, you know --16

MR. MORELLI:  I think that would cover17
a lot more impervious area doing that.  You lose18
the yard in the back.  You would be driving19
through the backyard in order to get to the06:47:53PM 20
garage.21

MR. BIAGI:  I've got you.22

21

MR. MORELLI:  The house right across1
the street from me has two driveways and two2
garages.  I looked at that and thought that it3
would be nice and look nice in the neighborhood,4
rather than have a shed and have people put5
their bicycles outside and cars outside.6

Honestly, it might increase my7
rental, you know, because I'm losing the three8
units.  I'm going down to two now, so I would9
like a nicer place for people to live.  That's06:48:18PM 10
my thought.11

MR. BIAGI:  You see two driveways --12
MR. MEEK:  If this was a smaller lot,13

maybe it would have more resonance but I think14
that this is still a big backyard area.  We15
appreciate the chance to look into that.16

MR. JABLECKI:  You can open it up for17
public comment.18

MR. MEYER:  Let me open it up for19
public comment.  Does anybody have any06:48:40PM 20
questions, comments, any concerns?21

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  It sounds like a22
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beautiful plan.  It's Chicago.  I mean, it's1
weather -- The weather we have, it's nice for2
the renters to have garage on both sides.3

MR. JABLECKI:  Just to be clear, the4
recommendation, right now, we're not approving a5
garage.  If there's a recommendation, it's we're6
recommending the rezoning.  The question is7
whether there should be a condition prohibiting8
a second garage.9

MR. MEYER:  Anybody have any more06:49:19PM 10
questions?11

(No response.)12
Then, I think, we should make a13

motion to close the open meeting.14
MR. JABLECKI:  There's no further15

comment from the public, correct?16
MR. MEYER:  I already asked.17
MR. JABLECKI:  The motion is to close18

the public hearing.19
MR. MEYER:  Make a motion to close06:49:43PM 20

public comment.21
All in favor.22

23
(All aye.)1

(Which were all of the2
proceedings had in the3
above-entitled cause.)4

5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

24
STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

              I, KRISTI LANDOLINA, Certified
Shorthand Reporter, Registered Professional
Reporter, and Notary Public in and for the
County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby
certify that previous to the commencement of the
examination and testimony of the various
witnesses herein, they were duly sworn to
testify the truth in relation to the matters
pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by
said witnesses was reduced to writing by means
of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into
typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a
true, correct and complete transcript of my
shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.
              IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have
hereunto set my hand and affixed my electronic
signature this 26th day of November, A.D. 2024.

                       /s/ Kristi Landolina
                       KRISTI LANDOLINA,
                       C.S.R. No. 084-004611,
                       Notary Public, DuPage County
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Nature of Request:  
 
The petitioners seek to open a Vape Shop.  The owners have operated a Vape Shop at 502 Sheridan 
Road since the used was approved by the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council in 2016.  
A special use permit is issued only for a specific location and cannot be moved to another location.  
Under our Commercial Zoning Code a Smoke and/or Vape Shop requires a special use in the MX-1 
District. 
  
Current Use and Conditions 
 
The property is currently unoccupied after being vacated by IC Signs.  The site is located on Sheridan 
Road in one of the main stretches of the busy commercial zoning district.  There are a variety of retail 
type businesses and restaurants in the vicinity that would complement this type of use. 
 
Staff considers this primarily a retail store.  The police department has not reported criminal activity 
coming from this business since its opening in 2016. 
 
 
 
Staff Recommendation  
 
Staff recommends approval of this application, contingent upon the petitioner filling all other 
requirements of the building permitting process. 

 
 
 
Staff Report Prepared By: Scott Coren, City Manager  
 
 

Project Addresses: 417 Sheridan Road 

Property Owner:           BME Apartments, LLC 
Applicant / Petitioner:  Vape312, Incorporated 
   Contact: Tang Wong 
   
Zoning:  MX-1: Downtown Mixed Use 
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